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PART I

This Form 10-K, including Management’s Discussiod &nalysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations in Part Il, Iltem 7 below, includes ford«ooking statements within the meaning of Secf@A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Sectiona2ilie Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendliéd
statements other than statements of historicas faatained in this Form 10-K, including statemeatgrding our
future financial position, business strategy arahpland objectives of management for future opaTstiare
forward-looking statements. The words “believe,"dyi’ “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,™intend,”
“should,” “plan,” “expect” and similar expressioras they relate to us, are intended to identifwéyd-looking
statements. We have based these forward-lookibgnséats largely on our current expectations angeptions
about future events and financial trends that wiewe may affect our financial condition, resulfsoperations,
business strategy and financial needs. These fdrAeaking statements are subject to a number k§ris
uncertainties and assumptions described in “Rigitdfg” in Part I, Item 1A below, and elsewherehist
Form 10-K, including, among other things: the fetgrowth of the small business and home marketedpf
adoption of wireless networking worldwide; our nesis strategies and development plans; our suatessf
introduction of new products and technologies; fetoperating expenses and financing requirements; a
competition and competitive factors in the smaBiihess and home markets. In light of these risksetainties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events and cir¢antes discussed in this Form 10-K may not occdraanual
results could differ materially from those antidigd or implied in the forward-looking statementd. fArward-
looking statements in this Form 10-K are basechéorination available to us as of the date heredfia@ assume
no obligation to update any such forwdodking statements. The following discussion shdaddead in conjunctic
with our consolidated financial statements andaitmmpanying notes contained in this Form 10-K.

ltem 1. Business
General

We design, develop and market networking produmtsiéme users and for small business, which wandefs
a business with fewer than 250 employees. We atgséal on satisfying the ease-of-use, quality, i,
performance and affordability requirements of thesers. Our product offerings enable users to dnseenet
access, peripherals, files, digital multimedia emntand applications among multiple personal coersubr PCs,
and other Internet-enabled devices. We sell owlymts primarily through a global sales channel netywwhich
includes traditional retailers, online retailersedt market resellers, or DMRs, value added resglor VARS, and
broadband service providers. A discussion of facpamtentially affecting our operations is set fanthRisk
Factors,” under Part |, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1088 principal executive offices are located 2d@&rea
America Parkway, Santa Clara, California 95054, amdtelephone number at that location is (408)-8030. We
file reports, proxy statements and other infornratigth the Securities and Exchange Commission Fa2,Sn
accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1884amended, or the Exchange Act. You may reaa eyl oul
reports, proxy statements and other informatiafiby us at the public reference room of the SEGtkd at
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 aB&=call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for furtherrinfttion
about the public reference rooms. Our filings dse available to the public over the Internet & 8EC’s website at
http://www.sec.goyand, as soon as practicable after such repa@thled with the SEC, free of charge through a
hyperlink on our Internet website fattp://www.netgear.comnformation contained on the website is not a pért
this Form 10-K.

Markets

Our objective is to be the leading provider of inative networking products to the small busines$leame
markets. A number of factors are driving todayicreasing demand for networking products wititimall businesse
and homes. As the number of computing devices, aadPCs, has increased in recent years, netwaksearg
deployed in order to share information and resaiezeong users and devices. This information aralires
sharing occurs internally, through a local areavoet, or LAN, or externally, via the Internet. Take advantage of
complex applications, advanced communication cditigbiand rich multimedia content, users are
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upgrading their Internet connections by deployifghkspeed broadband access technologies. Usersesdkdhe
convenience and flexibility of operating their PGgtops and related computing devices in a moreileoor
wireless, manner. Finally, as the usage of netwanktuding the Internet, has increased, users baceme much
more focused on the security of their connectiordsthe protection of the data within their networks

Small business and home users demand a complaiéwieed and wireless networking and broadband
solutions that are tailored to their specific neadd budgets and also incorporate the latest nkimgptechnologies.
These users require the continual introductionesé and refined products. Small business and howes wdten lac
extensive IT resources and technical knowledgetlamefore demand ‘plug-and-play’ or easy-to-insaaltl use
solutions. These users seek reliable productgdiaaire little or no maintenance, and are suppdrieeffective
technical support and customer service. We belieatthese users also prefer the convenience afrohg a
networking solution from a single company with whtmy are familiar; as these users expand theivar&s, they
tend to be loyal purchasers of that brand. In &fdijpurchasing decisions of users in the smalinass and home
markets are also driven by the affordability ofmatking products. To provide reliable, easy-to-pseducts at an
attractive price, we believe a successful supptiest have a company-wide focus on the unique remeénts of
these markets and the operational discipline asttefficient company infrastructure and proceskasallow for
efficient product development, manufacturing arstribution.

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chawmalrldwide, including traditional retailers, ordimetailers,
wholesale distributors, DMRs, VARSs, and broadbasmtise providers.

Retailers. Our retail channel primarily supplies productattare sold into the home market. We sell direict)
or enter into consignment arrangements with, a rurabour traditional retailers. The remaining itimhal retailers
as well as our online retailers, are fulfilled thgh wholesale distributors, the largest of whiah lagram Micro, Inc
and Tech Data Corporation. We work directly withr cetail channels on market development activitsegsh as co-
advertising, in-store promotions and demonstratiesent sponsorship and sales associate trairsngek as
establishing “store within a store” websites andris advertising.

DMRs and VARs.We primarily sell into the small business martkebugh an extensive network of DMRs and
VARs. Our DMRs include companies such as CDW as@yht. VARs include our network of registered P ostit
Partners, or resellers who achieve prescribed giiyagales goals and as a result may receive salentives,
marketing support and other program benefits fremQur products are also resold by a large numb&maller
VARs whose sales are not large enough to qualéyntfor our Powershift Partner program. Our DMRs ¥AdRS
generally purchase our products through our whidediatributors, primarily Ingram Micro, Inc. angdh Data
Corporation.

Broadband Service ProvidersWe also supply our products directly to broadbsédvice providers in the
United States and internationally, who distribute products to their small business and home sildzsst

We derive a substantial portion of our net revefinom international sales. International sales psraentage ¢
net revenue grew from 51% in 2004 to 56% in 20@#eSin Europe, Middle East and Africa, or EMEAgwgrfrom
$159.6 million in 2004 to $200.0 million in 200®&presenting an increase of approximately 25% duhagperiod.
We continue to penetrate new markets such as Be|dithina, Eastern Europe, India, Italy, Japan, NgrvRussia,
and the Netherlands. The table below sets fortmetrevenue by major geographic region.

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage Percentage
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)
United State: $162,56: 15% $186,83¢ 7% $199,20¢
EMEA 107,84 48%  159,61! 25%  199,95:
Asia Pacific and rest of worl 28,89: 27% 36,68¢ 38% 50,45!
Total $299,30:. 28% $383,13! 17% $449,61(
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Revenues from significant customers as a percemtiager total revenues for the years ended Deceldber
2003, 2004 and 2005 were as follows:
Year Ended

December 31,
2003 2004 2005

Ingram Micro, Inc. 31% 27% 25%
Tech Data Corporatio 15% 18% 17%

Product Offerings

Our product line consists of switches, adapterd,vained and wireless devices that enable Etherestarking,
broadband access, and network connectivity. Thestupts are available in multiple configurationstiress the
needs of our customers in each geographic regiarioh our products are sold.

Ethernet networking. Ethernet is the most commonly used wired netvpodtocol for connecting devices in
today’s home and small-office networks. Products &nable Ethernet networking include:

* switches, which are multiple port devices useddatwork PCs and periphera

* network interface cards, adapters and bridges giialble PCs and other equipment to be connecigd to
network;

* peripheral servers, such as print servers that geapenting on a network, and disk servers whicimagg
shared disks on the network; &

» VPN firewalls, which provide secure remote netwackess and ar-virus and an-spam capabilities

Broadband AccessBroadband is a transmission medium capable ofimgawnore information and at a higher
speed over public networks than traditional narrambfrequencies. Products that enable broadbamdsarclude:

* routers, which are used to connect two networksttogy, such as the home or office network andnteriet;
* gateways, or routers with an integrated modeminf@rnet acces:

« IP telephony products, used for transmitting vaiosmunications over a network; a

* wireless gateways, or gateways that include amgiiated wireless access poi

Network Connectivity. Products that enable network connectivity include

* wireless access points, which provide a wirelgdsltietween a wired network and wireless devi
* wireless network interface cards and adapters,wénable devices to be connected to the networdesgsly;
» media adapters, which wirelessly connect PCs,&te®/s and other equipment to a network;

» Powerline adapters and bridges, which enable deticbe connected to the network over existingtetead

wiring.

We design our products to meet the specific neétisth the small business and home markets, tagori
various elements of the product design, includimgngonent specification, physical characteristiecshsas casing,
design and coloration, and specific user interfaaéures to meet the needs of these markets. Weéealsrage man
of our technological developments, high volume nfiactuiring, technical support and engineering irtftecture
across our markets to maximize business efficisncie

Our products that target the small business marieetiesigned with an industrial appearance, inatudietal
cases, and for some product categories, the atulityount the product within standard data netwagkiacks. Thes
products typically include higher port counts, léghlata transfer rates and other performance desistcs
designed to meet the needs of a small businesskmeexample, we offer data transfer rates upmoGigabit per
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second for our business products to meet the higgqaacity requirements of business users. Sontesétproducts
are also designed to support transmission modésasifiber optic cabling, which is common in mooplsisticated
business environments. Security requirements wighinproducts for small business broadband acoesisdie
firewall and virtual private network capabilitidsat allow for secure interactions between remdiees and
business headquarter locations. Our connectivitdyset offerings for the small business market idelenhanced
security and remote configurability often requinec business setting.

Our products for the home user are designed wehgihg visual and physical aesthetics that are oesigable
in a home environment. For example, our RangeMaeries of routers have distinctive blue antennéatdr
LEDs in a circular dome atop a sleek white plasgéising. Our connectivity offerings for use in thante are
generally at a lower price than higher security emfigurability wireless offerings for the smalidiness market.
Our products for facilitating broadband accesiemiome are available with features such as pamorigol
capabilities and firewall security, to allow forfeg more controlled Internet usage in familieshaghildren. Our
broadband products designed for the home markeftcalstain advanced installation software that guméess
sophisticated data networking user through thaliagion process with their broadband service mtexiusing a
graphical user interface and simple point and dip&rations. Our connectivity product offerings tioe home
include Powerline data transmission modes whiawallome users to take advantage of their existiectrécal
wiring infrastructure for transmitting data amonrgfwork components.

Competition

The small business and home networking marketsggesely competitive and subject to rapid techgiial
change. We expect competition to continue to infgn®ur principal competitors include:

« within the small business networking market, conigmsuch as 3Com, Allied Telesyn, the Linksys dlnrisof
Cisco Systems, Dell Computer-Link, Hewlet-Packard, Nortel Networks, and SonicWall, Inc.; .

« within the home networking market, companies sigcBelkin Corporation, D-Link, and the Linksys diois
of Cisco Systems

Other current competitors include numerous localbees such as Siemens Corporation and AVM in Eyrope
Corega International SA and Melco, Inc./Buffalo firology in Japan and TP-Link in China, and broadban
equipment suppliers such as ARRIS Group, Inc., k& Inc., Scientific Atlanta, a Cisco company ofison
Corporation and Terayon Communications Systems, Qe potential competitors include consumer etetus
vendors and telecommunications equipment vendocsoshld integrate networking capabilities into tHeie of
products.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hbeger operating histories, greater name recagniind
substantially greater financial, technical, satearketing and other resources. As a result, theyhmase more
advanced technology, larger distribution chanrsttenger brand names, better customer service @essto more
customers than we do. For example, Dell Computsisigmificant brand name recognition and has aeriding
presence substantially greater than ours. Simjl&isco Systems is well recognized as a leaderawiging
networking solutions to businesses and has sultagreater financial resources than we do. Savefrour
competitors, such as the Linksys division of CiSgstems and D-Link, offer a range of products thictly
compete with most of our product offerings. Sevefadur other competitors primarily compete in arenfimited
manner. For example, Hewlett-Packard sells netwgrkroducts primarily targeted at larger businesses
enterprises. However, the competitive environmentliich we operate changes rapidly. Other largepzones witt
significant resources could become direct compstitither through acquiring a competitor or thiwirgernal
efforts.

We believe that the principal competitive factarshie small business and home markets for netwgrkin
products include product breadth, size and scopleeo$ales channel, brand name, timeliness of medupt
introductions, product performance, features, flnetlity and reliability, price, ease-of-installati, maintenance
and use, and customer service and support.

To remain competitive, we believe we must inveghificant resources in developing new productsaeiing
our current products, expanding our sales charmmglgnaintaining customer satisfaction worldwide.




Table of Contents

Research and Developmer

As of December 31, 2005, we had 54 employees edgagesearch and development. We believe that our
success depends on our ability to develop prodhatsmeet the changing user needs and to anticipate
proactively respond to evolving technology in adlynand cost-effective manner. Accordingly, we hanadle
investments in our research and development depattim order to effectively evaluate new technadsgand
develop new products. Our research and developemeployees work closely with our technology and
manufacturing partners to bring our products tokagin a timely, high quality and cost-efficient nmeer.

We identify and qualify new technologies, and weakwdosely with our various technology suppliersian
manufacturing partners to develop products usirgairthe two manufacturing methodologies descrisdw.

ODM. Under the original design manufacturer, or ODMtmodology, which we use for most of our product
development activities, we define the product cphemd specification and perform the technologga@n. We
then coordinate with our technology suppliers witiley develop the chipsets, software drivers andlilée circuit
designs. Once prototypes are completed, we wotk @t partners to complete the debugging and system
integration and testing. Our ODMs conduct all af thgulatory agency approval processes requiregafcin produc
After completion of the final tests, agency appitevand product documentation, the product is relédsr
production.

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer, or QEMthodology, which we use for a limited number
of products, we define the product specificatiod Hren purchase the product from OEM supplierstiaae
existing products fitting our design requireme@ace a technology supplier's product is selectesywrk with the
OEM supplier to complete the cosmetic changed fatfh our mechanical and packaging design, as agetur
documentation and graphical user interface, or Gtalndard. The OEM supplier completes regulatopr@mls on
our behalf. When all design verification and reg¢uita testing is completed, the product is reledsegroduction.

Our internal research and development efforts f@cusnproving the reliability, functionality, coand
performance of our partner’s designs. In additiee,define the industrial design, GUI, documentatiod
installation process of our products. Our totakegsh and development expenses were $12.5 mili@005,
$9.9 million in 2004 and $8.2 million in 2003.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are ASUSTek Computer, @ameo Communications Inc., Delta Networks
Incorporated, Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., L&trComm Corporation and Z-Com, Inc., all of which
headquartered in Taiwan. The actual manufacturirauoproducts occurs both in Taiwan and mainlahih@. We
distribute our manufacturing among these key sepplio avoid excessive concentration with a sisgfeplier. Delt:
Networks Incorporated is associated with Deltarimagonal Holding Ltd. and Hon Hai Precision is ma@ommonly
know as Foxconn. In addition to their responsipildr the manufacturing of our products, our mawtieers
purchase all necessary parts and materials to peoclumplete, finished goods. To maintain qualigndards for oL
suppliers, we have established our own produdntesind quality organization based in Hong Kong Sheénzhen,
China, which is responsible for auditing and insipecproduct quality on the premises of our ODM mifacturers.

We currently outsource warehousing and distribulbgyistics to three third-party providers who agsgonsible
for warehousing, distribution logistics and ordalfilment. In addition, these parties are alsgm@ssible for some
re-packaging of our products including bundling paments to form kits, inserting appropriate docutagon and
adding power adapters. APL Logistics Americas, inidValnut, California serves the Americas regidarry
Logistics Ltd. in Hong Kong serves the Asia Paaiéigion, and Furness Logistics BV in the Nethertaserves the
Europe, Middle East and Africa, or EMEA, region.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2005, we had 143 employees edgagsales and marketing. We work directly with ou
customers on market development activities, suctoeslvertising, in-store promotions and demonisinat event




Table of Contents

sponsorship and sales associate training. We algizgipate in major industry trade shows and mankeg¢vents. Ot
marketing department is comprised of our produatketing and corporate marketing groups.

Our product marketing group focuses on productesisg product development roadmaps, the new product
introduction process, product lifecycle managemeéamand assessment and competitive analysis. D grorks
closely with our sales and research and developgrenps to align our product development roadmapéet
customer technology demands from a strategic petigpe The group also ensures that product devedopm
activities, product launches, channel marketinggam activities, and ongoing demand and supplynitenoccur it
a well-managed, timely basis in coordination withr development, manufacturing, and sales groupsetisas our
ODM, OEM and sales channel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdiniey and building our corporate brand. The gréoquses
on defining our mission, brand promise and markgetiressages on a worldwide basis. This group alfsoedethe
marketing approaches in the areas of advertisinlgligrelations, events, channel programs and @lr delivery
mechanisms. These marketing messages and appr@aehasstomized for both the small business andehom
markets through a variety of delivery mechanismsgieed to effectively reach end users in a costiefft manner.

We conduct much of our international sales and etar operations through NETGEAR International,.Inc
our wholly-owned subsidiary which has formed saled marketing subsidiaries and branch offices wadd.

Technical Support

We provide technical support to our customers thhoas combination of limited number of permanent
employees and extensive use of subcontracted,smureing”resources. Although we design our products to re:
minimal technical support, if a customer requiresistance, we generally provide free, high-quadéithnical advice
worldwide over the phone and Internet for a spedifieriod of time, generally less than one year cWeently
subcontract first and second level technical supfeoour products and as of December 31, 2005y utilizing
approximately 520 part-time and full-time individsiado answer customers’ technical questions. Fxatl technical
support represents the first team member a custaitigeach with questions; and, typically, thesdividuals are
able to answer routine technical questions. If hieyunable to resolve the issue, the first lewppsrt member will
forward the customer to our more highly trainedosetlevel support group. The most difficult or wnégguestions
are forwarded to NETGEAR employees. This 14 peisdrouse staff provides the most sophisticated stippghen
customer issues require escalation.

In addition to providing third level technical sugp these internal NETGEAR employees design athirieal
support database and are responsible for traimidgraanaging our outsourced sub-contractors. Wizeaitihe
information gained from customers by our techngzgdport organization to enhance our current andgdyproducts
by providing bug fixes, simplifying the installatigprocess and planning future product needs.

In North America, the United Kingdom, South Eastafsnd Australia, the first and second level tecahi
support in English is provided 24 hours a day, yYsdaweek, 365 days a year. Local language supalto
available during local business hours in Austrigit&rland, China, France, Germany, Italy, Japaoreld, Spain,
the Nordic countries, Belgium and the Netherlands.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeirdgrily on the technical expertise, speed of tethagy
implementation, creative skills and managementtegsilof our officers and key employees, plus owhgr of a
limited but important set of copyrights, trademarkade secrets and patents. We primarily rely oarabination of
copyright, trademark and trade secret and paters, laondisclosure agreements with employees, camésland
suppliers and other contractual provisions to distabmaintain and protect our proprietary rigiwée hold two
issued patents and currently have a number of pgridinited States patent applications related tortelogy and
products offered by us. In addition, we rely ondkparty licensors for patented hardware and so#éieense rights
in technology that are incorporated into and akessary for the operation and functionality of products. We
typically retain limited exclusivity over intellagal property we jointly develop with our OEM and ®ID
manufacturers. Our success will depend in partwrcontinued ability to have access to these tdogies.
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We have trade secret rights for our products, atingi mainly of product design, technical product
documentation and software. We also own, or hapéeapfor registration of trademarks, in connectiaith our
products, including NETGEAR, the NETGEAR logo, thearGuy logo, Connect with Innovation, Everybody’s
connecting, IntelliFi, ProSafe, RangeMax and Siédard, in the United States and internationallye Wave
registered several Internet domain names that wdanselectronic interaction with our customerdiiiking
dissemination of product information, marketinggmams, product registration, sales activities, atier
commercial uses.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 307 full-time emeés, with 157 in sales, marketing and technicppett,
54 in research and development, 43 in operations58 in finance, information systems and admiatiin. We
also utilize a number of temporary staff, includit®full-time contractors, to supplement our workfa We have
never had a work stoppage among our employees@pdmnsonnel are represented under collective bargpi
agreements. We consider our relations with our eygas to be good.

Website Posting of SEC Filings

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, aliniare available on the same day such filings a@emThe
specific location on the website where these repmat be found is http://www.investor.netgear.calgae.cfm.
Our website also provides a link to Section 1&8 which are available on the same day as suopdiare made.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agespamsitions of our executive officers as of Marct2Q06.

Name Age Position

Patrick C.S. Lc 49 Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Jonathan R. Math¢ 55 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Mark G. Merrill 51 Chief Technology Office

Michael F. Falcot 49 Vice President of Operatiol

Christine M. Gorjant 49 Vice President, Financ

Albert Y. Liu 33 General Counsel and Secret

Charles T. Olsol 50 Vice President of Engineerir

David Soare: 39 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Sales and Suig
Michael A. Werdanr 37 Vice President of Americas Sal

Patrick C.S. Ldhas served as our Chairman and Chief Executive&ffiince March 2002. From September
1999 to March 2002, he served as our Presidentsiacd our inception in 1996 to September 199%emeed as
Vice President and General Manager. Mr. Lo joineg Bletworks, a networking company, in August 1995 t
launch a division targeting the small businesstzomde markets and established the NETGEAR divisiakahuary
1996. From 1983 until 1995, Mr. Lo worked at Hewleackard Company, a computer and test equipmenpany,
where he served in various management positiossfiware sales, technical support, network produaagemen
sales support and marketing in the United Statds®ai|m, most recently as the Asia/Pacific marketlirgctor for
Unix servers. Mr. Lo received a B.S. degree in fieal Engineering from Brown University.

Jonathan R. Mathehnas served as our Executive Vice President and €Elmiancial Officer since October 2003
and served as our Vice President and Chief Fink@dfacer since August 2001. From July 1995 to Ma&d01,
Mr. Mather worked at Applause Inc., a consumer potslcompany, where he served as president anfi chie
executive officer from 1998 to 2001, as chief fio@h officer and chief operating officer from 198¥1998 and as
chief financial officer from 1995 to 1997. From B 1995, Mr. Mather was at Home Fashions Incqrassumer
products company, where he served as chief finhoffiaer from 1992 to 1995, and as vice presidéngnce of an
operating division, Louverdrape, from 1988 to 199dor to that, he spent more than two years at the
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semiconductor division of Harris Corporation, a coamications equipment company, where he serveldeas t
finance manager of the offshore manufacturing @visHe has also worked in public accounting farrfgears with
Coopers & Lybrand (now part of PricewaterhouseCoop&P) and for two years with Ernst & Young. Mr alther
is a certified management accountant (CMA) andsis a chartered accountant from the Institute cir@red
Accountants in Sri Lanka, where Mr. Mather receibhedundergraduate B.A. degree equivalent. Mr. Math
received an M.B.A. from Cornell University, New Yor

Mark G. Merrill has served as our Chief Technology Officer sincidey 2003. From September 1999 to
January 2003, he served as Vice President of Eegimeand served as Director of Engineering frompt&maber
1995 to September 1999. From 1987 to 1995, Mr. Marorked at SynOptics Communications, a localaare
networking company, which later merged with Webfiéo become Bay Networks, where his responsisliti
included system design and analog implementati@nSynOptic’s first LOBASE-T products. Mr. Mernikceived
both a B.S. degree and an M.S. degree in Electiogineering from Stanford University.

Michael F. Falcorhas served as our Vice President of Operationg $lovember 2002. From September 1999
to November 2002, Mr. Falcon worked at Quantum Gration, a data technology company, where he seaged
vice president of operations and supply chain mamamt. From April 1999 to September 1999, Mr. Faleas at
Meridian Data, a storage company acquired by Quar@orporation, where he served as vice president of
operations. From February 1989 to April 1999, Malden was at Silicon Valley Group, a semiconduetquipment
manufacturer, where he served as director of ojpaststrategic planning and supply chain managénfeior to
that, he served in management positions at SCEB\sstan electronics manufacturer, Xerox Imagindedys, a
provider of scanning and text recognition solutjcarsd Plantronics, Inc., a provider of lightweigbimmunication
headsets. Mr. Falcon received a B.A. degree in &wies from the University of California, Santa Cauzd has
completed coursework in the M.B.A. program at S&itaa University.

Christine M. Gorjandas served as our Vice President, Finance sincerNber 2005. From September 1996
through November 2005, Ms. Gorjanc served as ViesiBent, Controller, Treasurer and Assistant Sagréor
Aspect Communications Corporation, a provider ofkfmrce and customer management solutions. Froroliact
1988 through September 1996, she served as thegdanfTax for Tandem Computers, Inc., a providdaalt-
tolerant computer systems. From June, 1987 thr@Quabber 1988, Ms. Gorjanc served as the Managéawf
Operations for Xidex Corporation, a manufacturestofage devices. Prior to that, Ms. Gorjanc worikeglublic
accounting for eight years with a number of accimgnirms. Ms. Gorjanc holds a B.A. in Accountingith honors)
from the University of Texas at El Paso, a M.STaxation from Golden Gate University, and is a {fied Public
Accountant.

Albert Y. Liuhas served as our General Counsel and Secretas/Gitober 2004. From March 2004 to Oct
2004, Mr. Liu consulted as acting general counsdlsecretary for Yipes Enterprise Services, Intemerging
telecom services company. From May 2000 to Jund,2@®. Liu worked at Turnstone Systems, Inc., a
telecommunications equipment provider, where heeskas general counsel and secretary, as direfchnmoan
resources since September 2001 and as a memlber lodard of directors since November 2003. Pridhad,

Mr. Liu practiced corporate and securities law @ltid&an & Cromwell, a leading U.S. law firm, fromad@ber 1997
to May 2000. Mr. Liu holds a J.D. from the Univéysof California, Hastings College of the Law, et A.B. in
Political Science and a B.S. in Computer ScienomfBtanford University.

Charles T. Olsomas served as our Vice President of Engineerirgesianuary 2003. From July 1978 to
January 2003, Mr. Olson worked at Hewlett-Packasth@any, a computer and test equipment company entesr
served as director of research and developmemrimCurve networking from 1998 to 2003, as reseanth
development manager for the Enterprise Netserwgsidin from 1997 to 1998, and, prior to that, imiwas other
engineering management roles in Hewlett-Packdttiix server and personal computer product diasidAr. Olsol
received a B.S. degree in Electrical Engineeriogfthe University of California, Davis and an M.Bf#fom
Santa Clara University.

David Soaresas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldwidles and Support since August 2004.
Mr. Soares joined us in January 1998, and servé&ticasPresident of Europe, Middle East and AfriEMEA) sales
from December 2003 to July 2004, EMEA Managing Btioe from April 2000 to November 2003, United Kirayd
and Nordic Regional Manager from February 1999 tord¥t 2000 and United Kingdom Country Manager from
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January 1998 to January 1999. Prior to joiningvis,Soares was at Hayes Microcomputer Productsarufacture
of dial-up modems. Mr. Soares attended Ridley @ell®©ntario Canada.

Michael A. Werdanrhas served as our Vice President of Americas Sates December 2003. Since joining
in 1998, Mr. Werdann has served as our United Stateector of Sales, E-Commerce and DMR from Decamb
2002 to 2003 and as our Eastern regional salestdirfom October 1998 to December 2002. Priopioifg us,
Mr. Werdann worked for three years at lomega Catian, a computer hardware company, as a salestalirr
the value added reseller sector. Mr. Werdann helEsS. Degree in Communications from Seton HalMersity.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. The risks described below are not extiaei®f
the risks that might affect our business. Othéeksiisncluding those we currently deem immateriay ralso impact
our business. Any of the following risks could mally adversely affect our business operationsutes of
operations and financial condition and could resula significant decline in our stock price.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on aagterly and annual basis, which could cause oupsk price tc
fluctuate or decline.

Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quader
yearto-year for a variety of reasons, many of which laeyond our control. If our actual revenue werfalidoelow
our estimates or the expectations of public maakelysts or investors, our quarterly and annualli®svould be
negatively impacted and the price of our stock dalécline. Other factors that could affect our tgrdy and annual
operating results include those listed in this festtors section of this Form 10-K and others sagh

« changes in the pricing policies of or the introduttof new products by us or our competitc

» changes in the terms of our contracts with custesroesuppliers that cause us to incur additionpeasges or
assume additional liabilitie:

* slow or negative growth in the networking prody&tsonal computer, Internet infrastructure, home
electronics and related technology markets, asagetlecreased demand for Internet act

« changes in or consolidation of our sales chanmalsaholesale distributor relationships or failuvettanage
our sales channel inventory and warehousing reangings;

« delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produat® a timely basis
* our inability to accurately forecast product deme

* unanticipated shift in overall product mix from hay to lower margin products which would adverseipact
our margins

« delays in the introduction of new products by usnarket acceptance of these produ

e an increase in price protection claims, redemptafimaarketing rebates, product warranty returnallomwance
for doubtful accounts

« operational disruptions, such as transportatioaydebr failure of our order processing system,iqaerly if
they occur at the end of a fiscal quar

* seasonal patterns of higher sales during the sdralfidf our fiscal year, particularly retail-redat sales in our
fourth quarter

« foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injtiisdictions where we transact sales in local ency;
* bad debt exposure as we expand into new interratroarkets; an

« changes in accounting rules, such as recordingnsesefor employee stock option grai
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As a result, period-to-period comparisons of owgrafing results may not be meaningful, and you khoot
rely on them as an indication of our future perfance. In addition, our future operating results ifalybelow the
expectations of public market analysts or investiorshis event, our stock price could decline #igantly.

Some of our competitors have substantially greatesources than we do, and to be competitive we be
required to lower our prices or increase our advisimg expenditures or other expenses, which coudsult in
reduced margins and loss of market share.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly comipedi market, and we expect competition to intenstiur
principal competitors in the small business mankelude 3Com Corporation, Allied Telesyn Internatd, Dell
Computer Corporation, D-Link Systems, Inc., Hewlegickard Company, the Linksys division of Cisco 8y ani
Nortel Networks. Our principal competitors in thente market include Belkin Corporation-Link and the Linksys
division of Cisco Systems. Our principal compestor the broadband service provider market inclNARIS
Group, Inc., Motorola, Inc., Scientific AtlantaCisco company, Thomson Corporation and Terayon
Communications Systems, Inc. Other current andrmpialecompetitors include numerous local vendochsas
Siemens Corporation and AVM in Europe, Corega hagonal SA, Melco, Inc./Buffalo Technology in Japand
TP-Link in China, and broadband equipment suppliechss ARRIS Group, Inc., Motorola, Inc., Scientitanta,
a Cisco company, Thomson Corporation and Terayanr@anications Systems, Inc. Our potential competitdso
include consumer electronics vendors who couldjnatee networking capabilities into their line obducts.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hbeger operating histories, greater name recagniind
substantially greater financial, technical, satearketing and other resources. These competitoys amaong other
things, undertake more extensive marketing camgaigiopt more aggressive pricing policies, obtadnem
favorable pricing from suppliers and manufacturarg] exert more influence on the sales channelwsacan. We
anticipate that current and potential competitoitkalso intensify their efforts to penetrate oarget markets. These
competitors may have more advanced technology, mxdensive distribution channels, stronger brandes
greater access to shelf space in retail locatioigger promotional budgets and larger customershtem we do.
These companies could devote more capital resotoadsvelop, manufacture and market competing pisdinan
we could. If any of these companies are succeBsftdmpeting against us, our sales could declinenwargins
could be negatively impacted, and we could loseketashare, any of which could seriously harm owsitess and
results of operations.

Unfavorable economic conditions, particularly in VE&ern Europe, and turmoil in the international geofitical
environment may adversely affect our operating résu

We derive a significant percentage of our reveritgs international sales, and a deterioration obgl
economic and market conditions, particularly in Yées Europe, may result in reduced product demiziedeased
price competition and higher excess inventory leveurmoil in the global geopolitical environmeini;luding
terrorist activities in the United Kingdom and tregoing tensions in Iraq and the Middle East, haessured and
continue to pressure global economies. If the dlebanomic climate does not improve, our businessaperating
results will be harmed.

If we do not effectively manage our sales chanmaléntory and product mix, we may incur costs assbed with
excess inventory, or lose sales from having too fewducts.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andnage our sales channel inventory and maintain an
appropriate level and mix of products with our wadsale distributors and within our sales channelmag incur
increased and unexpected costs associated wittigistory. We generally allow wholesale distrilngtand
traditional retailers to return a limited amountoofr products in exchange for other products. Undermprice
protection policy, if we reduce the list price op@duct, we are often required to issue a credini amount equal
the reduction for each of the products held in mwey by our wholesale distributors and retailérsur wholesale
distributors and retailers are unable to sell theientory in a timely manner, we might lower thié&cp of the
products, or these parties may exchange the pradmchewer products. Also, during the transitiooni an
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existing product to a new replacement product, wstraccurately predict the demand for the existing the new
product.

If we improperly forecast demand for our productsamuld end up with too many products and be urtable
sell the excess inventory in a timely manner, #ljtor, alternatively we could end up with toevfproducts and not
be able to satisfy demand. This problem is exateddaecause we attempt to closely match invenewgi$ with
product demand leaving limited margin for errorthése events occur, we could incur increased egsesssociated
with writing off excessive or obsolete inventorylose sales or have to ship products by air fretigimeet
immediate demand incurring incremental freight s@iove the costs of transporting product via kpateferred
method, and suffering a corresponding decline asgmargins. During the fourth quarter of 2005 had a shift in
our demand forecast which resulted in lower thgreeted revenues due to our inability to ship toréwsed
forecast and higher than planned freight chargesdshipping products by air freight to attempiritigate the
change in demand.

We are currently involved in various litigation megrs and may in the future become involved in adfital
litigation, including litigation regarding intellec¢ual property rights, which could be costly and gabt us to
significant liability.

The networking industry is characterized by thes&xice of a large number of patents and frequairhsland
related litigation regarding infringement of pateritade secrets and other intellectual propegtytsi In particular,
leading companies in the data communications msyrketne of which are competitors, have extensivenpa
portfolios with respect to networking technologyofa time to time, third parties, including thesading
companies, have asserted and may continue to asstusive patent, copyright, trademark and othtslliectual
property rights against us demanding license ocaltpypayments or seeking payment for damages, dtixmrelief
and other available legal remedies through litmatiThese include third parties who claim to owtepts or other
intellectual property that cover industry standards our products comply with. If we are unabledsolve these
matters or obtain licenses on acceptable or conmialgreeasonable terms, we could be sued or we Inesfprced to
initiate litigation to protect our rights. The cadtany necessary licenses could significantly haumbusiness,
operating results and financial condition. Alsoaay time, any of these companies, or any othed-{hérty could
initiate litigation against us, or we may be fordednitiate litigation against them, which couliyert management
attention, be costly to defend or prosecute, preusifirom using or selling the challenged techngj@gquire us to
design around the challenged technology and céwsgrice of our stock to decline. In addition, dhirarties, some
of whom are potential competitors, may initiateghtion against our manufacturers, suppliers or bemsof our
sales channel, alleging infringement of their piegary rights with respect to existing or futuregucts. In the event
successful claims of infringement are brought bsdtparties, and we are unable to obtain licensésdependently
develop alternative technology on a timely basis,may be subject to indemnification obligationsubable to
offer competitive products, or be subject to ineethexpenses. Finally, consumer class-action lésvalated to the
marketing and performance of our home networkirafipcts have been asserted and may in the futuasdested
against us. If we do not resolve these claims favarable basis, our business, operating resuttfiaancial
condition could be significantly harmed.

The average selling prices of our products typigatlecrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the pobdwhich may
negatively affect our gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofaidy rapid reduction in the average selling psicever their
respective sales cycles. In order to sell prodiinetshave a falling average selling price and na@&ntargins at the
same time, we need to continually reduce produgtraanufacturing costs. To manage manufacturingscost mus
collaborate with our third-party manufacturers ngi@eer the most cost-effective design for our potsl In
addition, we must carefully manage the price paiccbmponents used in our products. We must alscessfully
manage our freight and inventory costs to reduegalvproduct costs. We also need to continualisogtuce new
products with higher sales prices and gross maigiosder to maintain our overall gross marginsvéf are unable
to manage the cost of older products or succegshthoduce new products with higher gross margis,net
revenue and overall gross margin would likely dezli
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Our future success is dependent on the acceptarfagetworking products in the small business and he
markets into which we sell substantially all of oproducts. If the acceptance of networking produdatsthese
markets does not continue to grow, we will be urabd increase or sustain our net revenue, and ousimess will
be severely harmed.

We believe that growth in the small business mankitdepend, in significant part, on the growthtbé
number of personal computers purchased by thesassard and the demand for sharing data intensipiécapions,
such as large graphic files. We believe that aeoegat of networking products in the home will depepdn the
availability of affordable broadband Internet accand increased demand for wireless products. Bithese
markets continue to grow, our business will be lm#dexpand, which could cause the value of atksto decline
Moreover, if networking functions are integratedrendirectly into personal computers and other heeenabled
devices, such as electronic gaming platforms osqreal video recorders, and these devices do notipain externe
network-enabling devices, sales of our productdccsuffer. In addition, if the small business om®markets
experience a recession or other cyclical effeasdiminish or delay networking expenditures, ousibess growth
and profits would be severely limited, and our bask could be more severely harmed than those coespthat
primarily sell to large business customers.

If we fail to continue to introduce new productsahachieve broad market acceptance on a timely basie will
not be able to compete effectively and we will Imable to increase or maintain net revenue and grosargins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgenvironment, and our future success dependsion ou
ability to develop and introduce new products tatieve broad market acceptance in the small besisned home
markets. Our future success will depend in largé ygaon our ability to identify demand trends ie ttmall business
and home markets and quickly develop, manufactudesell products that satisfy these demands irstaftective
manner. Successfully predicting demand trenddffiguli, and it is very difficult to predict the ffct introducing a
new product will have on existing product sales. Wilkalso need to respond effectively to new pradu
announcements by our competitors by quickly intaialg competitive products.

We have experienced delays in releasing new predudhe past, which resulted in lower quarterlynegenue
than expected. In addition, we have experiencedtimipated delays in product introductions beyondaunced
release dates. Any future delays in product devety and introduction could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketest
* negative publicity and damage to our reputation lauaghd;
« decline in the average selling price of our produanhd

« adverse reactions in our sales channel, such aseddahelf space or reduced online product visjib

We depend substantially on our sales channel, amdl failure to maintain and expand our sales channefould
result in lower sales and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net revemgebrand, we must maintain and expand our sakmeth
We sell our products through our sales channelghvbonsists of traditional retailers, on-line rkties, DMRs,
VARSs, and broadband service providers. Some oftkesities purchase our products through our whédes
distributors. We sell to small businesses primatippugh DMRs, VARs and retail locations, and wi tseour
home users primarily through retail locations, oelietailers and broadband service providers. WWergdly have n
minimum purchase commitments or long-term contradtts any of these third parties.

Traditional retailers have limited shelf space angimotional budgets, and competition is intenseliese
resources. A competitor with more extensive protinets and stronger brand identity, such as Cigsteins, may
have greater bargaining power with these retailEne. competition for retail shelf space may incezaghich would
require us to increase our marketing expenditureplg to maintain current levels of retail sheliasge. The recent
trend in the consolidation of online retailers &R channels has resulted in intensified competifar preferred
product placement, such as product placement amlame retailer’s Internet home page. Expanding our
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presence in the VAR channel may be difficult angemsive. We compete with established companiehthat
longer operating histories and longstanding refestidps with VARs that we would find highly desiralas sales
channel partners. If we were unable to maintaineqhnd our sales channel, our growth would bedidnand our
business would be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gimgrsales channels. If we fail to establish ag@mes in a
important developing sales channel, our businegklidme harmed.

If we fail to successfully overcome the challengessociated with growing our broadband service pa®ii sales
channel, our net revenue and gross profit will begatively impacted.

We face a number of challenges associated withtgsimg the broadband service provider market diféer
from what we have traditionally faced with the fletiaarket. These challenges include a longer sajfeke, more
stringent product testing and validation requiretaea higher level of customer service and suppemands,
competition from established suppliers, pricingsstee resulting in lower margins, and our genetperience in
selling to carriers. In addition, carriers may cé®®o prioritize the implementation of other tedogges or the roll
out of other services than wireless networking. Alowwdown in the general economy, over capacitpsobdation
among service providers, regulatory developmendscamstraint on capital expenditures could resuteduced
demand from service providers and therefore adiyeadfect our sales to them. If we do not succdisfwercome
these challenges, we will not be able to profitadriyw our carrier sales channel and our growth élslowed.

We are exposed to adverse currency exchange raietdhtions in jurisdictions where we transact indal
currency, which could harm our financial results ahcash flows.

Although the majority of our international salee aurrently invoiced in United States dollars, veed
implemented and continue to implement for certainntries both invoicing and payment in local fore@irrencies
Recently, we have experienced currency exchangedoand our exposure to losses in foreign curreanogactions
will likely increase. We currently do not engageaimy currency hedging transactions. Moreover, tstscof doing
business abroad may increase as a result of adwerhange rate fluctuations. For example, if théddhStates
dollar declined in value relative to a local cuegrwe could be required to pay more for our exjgeneks in that
market, including salaries, commissions, local apens and marketing expenses, each of which @ipdocal
currency. In addition, we may lose customers ithexge rate fluctuations, currency devaluationsconemic crises
increase the local currency price of our producteduce our customers’ ability to purchase prosluct

If disruptions in our transportation network occuor our shipping costs substantially increase, weyrtse unable
to sell or timely deliver our products and our oging expenses could increase.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesyswe use to ship our products, including suréawkair
freight. Our attempts to closely match our inventewrels to our product demand intensify the needfir
transportation systems to function effectively aithout delay. On a quarterly basis, our shippintume also tenc
to steadily increase as the quarter progresseshwhéans that any disruption in our transportatietwork in the
latter half of a quarter will have a more mateeifiect on our business than at the beginning afatqr.

The transportation network is subject to disruptiorcongestion from a variety of causes, includatgpr
disputes or port strikes, acts of war or terrorigatural disasters and congestion resulting fraghdvi shipping
volumes. For example, in the second half of 2004tspon the West Coast experienced and contineggerience
higher than usual shipping traffic, resulting imgestion and delays in our product shipment sclesdlabor
disputes among freight carriers are common, eslheticEMEA, and we expect labor unrest and iteef§ on
shipping our products to be a continuing challefogeais. Since September 11, 2001, the rate of oigpeof
international freight by governmental entities kabstantially increased, and has become incregsimgiredictable
If our delivery times increase unexpectedly forster any other reasons, our ability to delivedpats on time
would be materially adversely affected and resuttelayed or lost revenue. In addition, if the redecreases in
fuel prices were to continue, our transportatiosteavould likely further increase. Moreover, thetoof shipping
our products by air freight is greater than othethnds. From time to time in the past, we havepgdproducts
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using air freight to meet unexpected spikes in dehw@ to bring new product introductions to mardgeickly. If we
rely more heavily upon air freight to deliver oungucts, our overall shipping costs will increa&grolonged
transportation disruption or a significant increasthe cost of freight could severely disrupt business and harm
our operating results.

We rely on a limited number of wholesale distribusafor most of our sales, and if they refuse to payr
requested prices or reduce their level of purchasas net revenue could decline.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtowholesale distributors, including Ingram Michag. and
Tech Data Corporation. During the fiscal year enDedember 31, 2005, sales to Ingram Micro, Inc.itnd
affiliates accounted for 25% of our net revenue saids to Tech Data Corporation and its affili@esounted for
17% of our net revenue. We expect that a signifipantion of our net revenue will continue to cofrmm sales to a
small number of wholesale distributors for the §greable future. In addition, because our accoestsivable are
concentrated with a small group of purchasersfaiigre of any of them to pay on a timely basisaball, would
reduce our cash flow. We generally have no mininpumthase commitments or long-term contracts withain
these distributors. These purchasers could detideyatime to discontinue, decrease or delay {maichases of our
products. In addition, the prices that they paydior products are subject to negotiation and cohithge at any
time. If any of our major wholesale distributorsluee their level of purchases or refuse to paythees that we set
for our products, our net revenue and operatinglt®sould be harmed. If our wholesale distribuiasease the
size of their product orders without sufficientdeime for us to process the order, our abilityuiill product
demands would be compromised.

If our products contain defects or errors, we coulttur significant unexpected expenses, experiepceduct
returns and lost sales, experience product recadisffer damage to our brand and reputation, and sebject to
product liability or other claims

Our products are complex and may contain defentstseor failures, particularly when first introdeat or when
new versions are released. Some errors and defegtbe discovered only after a product has bedalied and
used by the end user. If our products contain defcerrors, we could experience decreased satemeareased
product returns, loss of customers and market shackincreased service, warranty and insurands.dosaddition,
our reputation and brand could be damaged, andwle ¢ace legal claims regarding our products. écessful
product liability or other claim could result ingeive publicity and harm our reputation, resultimexpected
expenses and adversely impact our operating results

If the redemption rate for our en-user promotional programs is higher than we estitaathen our net revenue
and gross margin will be negatively affected.

From time to time we offer promotional incentives;luding cash rebates, to encourage end usensrthase
certain of our products. Purchasers must followcsjgeand stringent guidelines to redeem theseritiges or
rebates. Often qualified purchasers choose nqgtpity dor the incentives or fail to follow the reged redemption
guidelines, resulting in an incentive redemptiaie 1@&f less than 100%. Based on historical datagstienate an
incentive redemption rate for our promotional peogs. If the actual redemption rate is higher thamestimated
rate, then our net revenue and gross margin witldgatively affected.

Stringent securities laws and related regulationexting public companies are resulting in increadeosts to us

Stringent laws and regulations affecting public pames, including the provisions of the Sarbane{Act
of 2002 and related rules enacted and proposedeb$EC and the NASDAQ National Market, are resglim
increased costs to us as we respond to their eggaints. In particular, complying with the internahtrol audit
requirements of Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404 istirguih increased internal efforts and higher fgem our
independent registered public accounting firm amhliance consultants. These rules could make ierdificult
for us to obtain certain types of insurance, inicigdirector and officer liability insurance, anéwway be forced to
accept reduced policy limits and coverage andiurisubstantially higher costs to obtain the sansmnilar
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coverage. The impact of these events could als@ntakore difficult for us to attract and retainadjfied persons to
serve on our Board of Directors, on committeesusf®oard of Directors, or as executive officers.

We are required to evaluate our internal control dar Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2008 any
adverse results from such evaluation could impattéstor confidence in the reliability of our inteal controls
over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 2002, we are required to furnish a report by our
management on our internal control over finanaalorting. Such report must contain among othererstan
assessment of the effectiveness of our interndtaloover financial reporting as of the end of éiscal year,
including a statement as to whether or not ourriralecontrol over financial reporting is effectivehis assessment
must include disclosure of any material weaknessesr internal control over financial reportingeitified by
management. Such report must also contain a statehag our independent registered public accogrftim has
issued an audit report on management’s assessinamntfointernal controls.

We will continue to perform the system and proakssumentation and evaluation needed to comply with
Section 404, which is both costly and challengbgring this process, if our management identifiae or more
material weaknesses in our internal control ovearitial reporting, we will be unable to assert satérnal control
is effective. If we are unable to assert that aterinal control over financial reporting is effeetias of the end of a
fiscal year, or if our independent registered pubticounting firm is unable to attest that our ng@naent’s report is
fairly stated or they are unable to express aniopiaon the effectiveness of our internal contro¢iofinancial
reporting, we could lose investor confidence indbeuracy and completeness of our financial repaisch may
have an adverse effect on our stock price.

We depend on a limited number of third-party conttamanufacturers for substantially all of our managtturing
needs. If these contract manufacturers experiencgy aelay, disruption or quality control problems their
operations, we could lose market share and our tdlanay suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblesieteand generally packaged by a limited numberigfnal
design manufacturers, or ODMs, and original equipmeanufacturers, or OEMs. We rely on our contract
manufacturers to procure components and, in sosescaubcontract engineering work. Some of ourymtsdare
manufactured by a single contract manufacturerdé/eot have any long-term contracts with any oftbind-party
contract manufacturers. Some of these third-paotygract manufacturers produce products for our aditgus. The
loss of the services of any of our primary thirdtpaontract manufacturers could cause a signifid&ruption in
operations and delays in product shipments. Quatifg new contract manufacturer and commencingmelu
production is expensive and time consuming.

Our reliance on third-party contract manufactueds® exposes us to the following risks over whieéhhave
limited control:

* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repais;

« inability to control the quality of finished prodis¢

« inability to control delivery schedules; a

« potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacalirer a part of the products we requi

All of our products must satisfy safety and reguatstandards and some of our products must atsive
government certifications. Our ODM and OEM contmaetnufacturers are primarily responsible for obtegmmost
regulatory approvals for our products. If our OD&sl OEMs fail to obtain timely domestic or foreigmgulatory
approvals or certificates, we would be unable tbase products and our sales and profitability lcoioe reduced,
our relationships with our sales channel could &ented, and our reputation and brand would suffer.
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If we are unable to provide our thi-party contract manufacturers an accurate forecagtaur component anc
material requirements, we may experience delayshi@ manufacturing of our products and the costs adr
products may increase

We provide our third-party contract manufactureithwa rolling forecast of demand, which they use to
determine our material and component requireméetsd times for ordering materials and componentg va
significantly and depend on various factors, suetha specific supplier, contract terms and denaartdsupply for
component at a given time. Some of our componemts fong lead times, such as wireless local areaonk
chipsets, switching fabric chips, physical layansceivers, connector jacks and metal and plastiosures. If our
forecasts are less than our actual requirements;amiract manufacturers may be unable to manufagoducts in
a timely manner. If our forecasts are too high, @antract manufacturers will be unable to use tmaponents they
have purchased on our behalf. The cost of the camms used in our products tends to drop rapidiyoismes
increase and the technologies mature. Therefoogyi€ontract manufacturers are unable to promystey
components purchased on our behalf, our cost afyziog products may be higher than our competdoesto an
over supply of higher-priced components. Moreoiféhey are unable to use components ordered adiogiction,
we will need to reimburse them for any losses theyr.

We obtain several key components from limited olessources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply
requirements, we may lose sales and experiencedased component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key prodtarhponents would harm our ability to meet scheduled
product deliveries. Many of the semiconductors urealir products are specifically designed for imseur product:
and are obtained from sole source suppliers onéhpee order basis. In addition, some componeatstle used in
all our products are obtained from limited sourddswese components include connector jacks, plaasings and
physical layer transceivers. We also obtain switgHabric semiconductors, which are used in ouettht switches
and Internet gateway products, and wireless laea aetwork chipsets, which are used in all ofwiueless
products, from a limited number of suppliers. Semituctor suppliers have experienced and continegferience
component shortages themselves, such as with atésstrsed in manufacturing chipsets, which in agversely
impact our ability to procure semiconductors frdrarh. Our contract manufacturers purchase theseauwengs on
our behalf on a purchase order basis, and we dbaw& any contractual commitments or guaranteeplgup
arrangements with our suppliers. If demand forecdjz component increases, we may not be ablédtaiman
adequate number of that component in a timely mamneddition, if our suppliers experience finalar other
difficulties or if worldwide demand for the compante they provide increases significantly, the allity of these
components could be limited. It could be diffic@bstly and time consuming to obtain alternativerses for these
components, or to change product designs to makefusternative components. In addition, diffigestin
transitioning from an existing supplier to a neyplier could create delays in component availgbitiat would
have a significant impact on our ability to fulfdtders for our products. If we are unable to absasufficient suppl
of components, or if we experience any interruptiothe supply of components, our product shipmeatsd be
reduced or delayed. This would affect our abilityrteet scheduled product deliveries, damage oadaad
reputation in the market, and cause us to lose ehatare.

We rely upon third parties for technology that isitical to our products, and if we are unable to gbnue to use
this technology and future technology, our ability develop, sell, maintain and support technolodlgadvanced
products would be limitec

We rely on third parties to obtain non-exclusivéepéed hardware and software license rights inneldyies
that are incorporated into and necessary for tleeatipn and functionality of our products. Becatleeintellectual
property we license is available from third partiesrriers to entry may be lower than if we owngrdgsive rights
to the technology we license and use. On the dthed, if a competitor or potential competitor esti@to an
exclusive arrangement with any of our key thirdtpaechnology providers, or if any of these provglenilaterally
decide not to do business with us for any reasonability to develop and sell products containtihgt technology
would be severely limited. Our licenses often regudyalty payments or other consideration to tpiadies. Our
success will depend in part on our continued ghitithave access to these technologies, and wetdaow
whether these third-party technologies will conéirta be licensed to us on commercially acceptatag or at all.
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If we are unable to license the necessary techgpleg may be forced to acquire or develop altemeatiichnology
of lower quality or performance standards. This iddimit and delay our ability to offer new or coetive
products and increase our costs of production. kesalt, our margins, market share, and opera#nglts could be
significantly harmed.

We also utilize third party software developmennpanies to develop, customize, maintain and support
software that is incorporated into our productsh&se companies fail to timely deliver or continsiy maintain an
support the software that we require of them, wg exgerience delays in releasing new productsféicdliies with
supporting existing products and customers.

If we are unable to secure and protect our intelteal property rights, our ability to compete couli harmed

We rely upon third parties for a substantial portid the intellectual property we use in our praduét the
same time, we rely on a combination of copyrigtaidémark, patent and trade secret laws, nondisel@greement
with employees, consultants and suppliers and athreiractual provisions to establish, maintain pratect our
intellectual property rights. Despite efforts t@f@ct our intellectual property, unauthorized thpatties may attem
to design around, copy aspects of our product demigbtain and use technology or other intelldgbuaperty
associated with our products. For example, onaiopamary intellectual property assets is the NERR name,
trademark and logo. We may be unable to stop fiarties from adopting similar names, trademarkslagas,
especially in those international markets whereiotallectual property rights may be less protectadthermore,
our competitors may independently develop siméahhology or design around our intellectual propedur
inability to secure and protect our intellectuadperty rights could significantly harm our brandidusiness,
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international marketgpmse us to operational, financial and regulatorisks.

International sales comprise a significant amodimuo overall net revenue. International sales viE&8% of
overall net revenue in fiscal 2005. We anticipats international sales may grow as a percentagetaevenue.
We have committed resources to expanding our iatenmal operations and sales channels and thesgseffiay not
be successful. International operations are subjeztnumber of other risks, including:

* political and economic instability, internationatttorism and anti-American sentiment, particulamly
emerging market:

« preference for locally branded products, and lamélausiness practices favoring local competit
« exchange rate fluctuation

« increased difficulty in managing inventol

« delayed revenue recognitic

* less effective protection of intellectual prope!

* stringent consumer protection and product compéaegulations, including but not limited to theesatly
enacted Restriction of Hazardous Substances diecatid the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipiman
WEEE directive in Europe, that may vary from coyrtr country and that are costly to comply withgl;

« difficulties and costs of staffing and managingeign operations

We intend to expand our operations and infrastrucéy which may strain our operations and increaserou
operating expenses.

We intend to expand our operations and pursue mapggortunities domestically and internationallygrow
our sales. We expect that this attempted expamgibstrain our existing management informationteyss, and
operational and financial controls. In additionwi# continue to grow, our expenditures will likélg significantly
higher than our historical costs. We may not be #éblinstall adequate controls in an efficient &angtly manner as
our business grows, and our current systems magenatiequate to support our future operations diffieulties
associated with installing and implementing these systems, procedures and controls may placendisant
burden on our management, operational and finaresalurces. In addition, if we grow internationaile will have
to expand and enhance our communications infrastrewclf we fail to continue to improve our manags
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information systems, procedures and financial @& twr encounter unexpected difficulties duringangion, our
business could be harmed.

We are implementing an international reorganizatipwhich may strain our resources and increase oyresating
expenses.

We are reorganizing our foreign subsidiaries artdies to better manage and optimize our intermetio
operations. Our implementation of this project wélfuire substantial efforts by our staff and wékult in increased
staffing requirements and related expenses. Fdituseccessfully execute the reorganization orrdtetors outside
of our control could negatively impact the timingdeextent of any benefit we receive from the repizmtion. As
part of the reorganization, we will be implementimgw information technology systems, including rfevecasting
and order processing systems. If we fail to sudaftg@nd timely integrate these new systems, wiéswiffer
disruptions to our operations. The reorganizatidhalso require us to amend a number of our custoamd
supplier agreements, which will require the congdrmur third-party customers and suppliers. Initoid, there
could be unanticipated interruptions in our busingserations as a result of implementing thesegd®sthat could
result in loss or delay in revenue causing an agveffect on our financial results.

Our stock price may be volatile and your investmémbur common stock could suffer a decline in vau

With the continuing uncertainty about economic dtiads in the United States, there has been sigmifi
volatility in the market price and trading volumiesecurities of technology and other companiescivinay be
unrelated to the financial performance of thesegames. These broad market fluctuations may neglgitaffect the
market price of our common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieiceéon our common stock market price include:

* actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults or our competit¢’ operating results
« actual or anticipated changes in our growth ratesio competitor growth rates

« conditions in the financial markets in general loamges in general economic conditic

« our ability to raise additional capital; a

» changes in stock market analyst recommendatiorsgdiagy our common stock, other comparable companies
or our industry generall)

Natural disasters, mischievous actions or terroradtacks could delay our ability to receive or shopr products,
or otherwise disrupt our business.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBatfifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8idathern
California, regions known for seismic activity. addition, substantially all of our manufacturingors in two
geographically concentrated areas in mainland Chwhare disruptions from natural disasters, hegtidemics and
political, social and economic instability may aff¢he region. If our manufacturers or warehousaujjities are
disrupted or destroyed, we would be unable toidigie our products on a timely basis, which cowdihour
business. Moreover, if our computer informationtegs or communication systems, or those of our eenar
customers, are subject to disruptive hacker attacksher disruptions, our business could suffee. hWve not
established a formal disaster recovery plan. Ook+ug operations may be inadequate and our busin&ssuption
insurance may not be enough to compensate us ydpases that may occur. A significant businessrmption
could result in losses or damages and harm ounbéssi For example, much of our order fulfillmerdgass is
automated and the order information is stored arsewvers. If our computer systems and serverogmaven for
a short period at the end of a fiscal quarter,adnility to recognize revenue would be delayed umélwere again
able to process and ship our orders, which couldeaur stock price to decline significantly.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chieté&cutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other kgyersonnel,
we may not be able to execute our business strasftpctively.

Our future success depends in large part uponahencied services of our key technical, sales, etarg and
senior management personnel. In particular, thaaees of Patrick C.S. Lo, our Chairman and Chie¢&xive
Officer, who has led our company since its incaptare very important to our business. All of oxe&utive officer:
or key employees are at will employees, and wedalamaintain any key person life insurance policidse
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loss of any of our senior management or other kegarch, development, sales or marketing persquengicularly
if lost to competitors, could harm our ability tmaplement our business strategy and respond tafhidly changing
needs of the small business and home markets.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing aggkarch and development facilities occupy appratety
74,000 square feet in an office complex in Sant&;ICalifornia, under a lease that expires in Baxss 2007. Our
international headquarters occupy approximatel@d® square feet in an office complex in Cork, Inélaunder a
lease entered into in February 2006 and expiringenember 2026. Several of our domestic sales sreg
perform their duties using leases of individuala#$. Our international sales personnel residedallsales offices
or home offices in Austria, Australia, China, Demkyd&rance, Germany, India, Ireland, Italy, Jagéarea, Russia,
Singapore, Spain, Sweden, the Netherlands andrftedJXKingdom. We also have operations personriafjus
facility in Hong Kong, which is subleased from dhird party logistics provider, Kerry Logistics. Véé&so maintain
a research and development facility in Taipei, BaiwWe believe our existing facilities are adeqdiateur current
needs.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioaus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gadifia,
Hong Kong and the Netherlands.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

In June 2004, a lawsuit, entiti@lberman v. NETGEARGivil Action CV021230, was filed against us in the
Superior Court of California, County of Santa Clarae complaint purports to be a class action dralief all
persons or entities in the United States who pweth@ur wireless products other than for resatn#ff alleges
that we made false representations concerningdteetchnsfer speeds of our wireless products wked in typical
operating circumstances, and is requesting injuactlief, payment of restitution and reasonaltieraty fees.
Similar lawsuits have been filed against other canigs within our industry. In November 2005, withadmitting
any wrongdoing or violation of law and to avoid tfistraction and expense of continued litigatior,and the
Plaintiff received preliminary court approval fopeoposed settlement.

Under the terms of the settlement, we will (i) s®ach eligible class member a promotional codetwmay b
used to purchase a new wireless product from NETREEANIine store, www.buynetgear.com, at a 15%alist
during the redemption period,; (ii) include a digtiar regarding wireless signal rates on our wielg®ducts
packaging and user’'s manuals and in our presssedeand advertising that reference wireless sigias;

(iii) donate $25,000 worth of our products to adbaot-for-profit charitable organization to beosken by
NETGEAR; and (iv) agree to pay, subject to cougrapal, up to $700,000 in attorn¢ fees and costs. None of the
foregoing benefits will be provided unless and Iuhi court grants final approval of the settlemagrteement. The
court has scheduled a hearing date of March 216 gfi(final approval of the settlement. We recordecharge of
$802,000 relating to this proposed settlement duttie year ended December 31, 2005.

In May 2005, we filed a complaint for declaratoejief against the Commonwealth Scientific and Indak
Research Organization (CSIRO), in the San Jossidivof the United States District Court, North&istrict of
California. The complaint alleges that the claifh€8IRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 are invalid aatinfringed
by any of our products. CSIRO had asserted thatvinetess networking products implementing the IEER.11a
and 802.11g wireless LAN standards infringe itepatNo trial date has been set.

These claims against us, or filed by us, whetheitor®us or not, could be time consuming, resulcostly
litigation, require significant amounts of manageitéme, and result in the diversion of significaperational
resources. Were an unfavorable outcome to ocoerre thxists the possibility it would have a matesidyerse impau
on our financial position and results of operatiforsthe period in which the unfavorable outcomeuws or
becomes probable.

In addition, we are subject to legal proceedinEnts and litigation arising in the ordinary coutféusiness,
including litigation related to intellectual propeand employment matters. While the outcome of¢hmatters is
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currently not determinable, we do not expect thatultimate costs to resolve these matters wilehawmaterial
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posijtresults of operations or cash flows.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a VVote of Security Hold¢

No matters were submitted to a vote of the sectgtders during the quarter ended December 31,.2005

PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Stock, Related Stockholder Matters andiéssPurchases of Equit
Securities

Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdagridhilarket under the symbol “NTGR” since July 31,
2003. Prior to that time, there was no public mafaeour common stock. The following table setgtidor the
indicated periods the high and low sales price®fmrcommon stock on the Nasdaqg National MarkethSu
information reflects interdealer prices, withouiaiemarkup, markdown or commission, and may nptesent

actual transactions.
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 201

First Quarte!
Second Quarte
Third Quartel
Fourth Quarte

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 20!

First Quarte
Second Quarte
Third Quartel
Fourth Quarte

On February 28, 2006, there were 21 stockholdersaufrd.

Dividend Policy

High Low
$20.0¢  $13.3¢
15.2( 10.1¢€
13.9¢ 8.8t
18.5¢ 12.0¢
High Low
$19.1€ $13.4¢
20.7¢ 12.9¢
25.7: 18.6¢
24.3( 17.52

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oganital stock. We currently intend to retain fgtu
earnings, if any, to finance the operation and egjmn of our business, and we do not anticipaténgagash

dividends in the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table summarizes the number of outditag options granted to employees and directarsyedl
as the number of securities remaining availablduture issuance, under our compensation plan$ as o

December 31, 2005.

(a)

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon
Exercise of
Outstanding Options,

Plan Category Warrants and Rights

(b)
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

(©)
Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under
Equity Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column(a))

Equity compensation plans approved
security holders(1

Equity compensation plans not appro
by security holde —

3,673,68

$ 10.4¢

483,54:

(1) These plans include our 2000 Stock Option Plan3Z&t0ck Plan and 2003 Employee Stock Purchase
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Da

The following selected consolidated financial data qualified in their entirety, and should be raad
conjunction with, the consolidated financial sta¢ers and related notes thereto, and “Managem&iscussion an
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statememperfations data for the years ended December 2003, 2
and 2005 and the selected consolidated balancé dédtmeas of December 31, 2004 and 2005 from aditesl
consolidated financial statements appearing elsenihehis Form 10-K. We derived the selected cbdated
statement of operations data for the years endedrleer 31, 2001 and 2002 and the selected contealitbalance
sheet data as of December 31, 2001, 2002 and 26@3dur audited consolidated financial statememksch are
not included in this Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
(In thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz

Net revenue $192,44( $237,33. $299,30: $383,13¢ $449,61(
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenu 172,79! 176,97. 215,33. 260,15! 297,76¢
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensatiol — 144 12¢ 162 147
Total cost of revenu 172,79! 177,11¢ 215,46( 260,31¢ 297,91;
Gross profit 19,64* 60,21¢ 83,84 122,82: 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 4,43 7,35¢ 8,22( 9,91¢ 12,54«
Sales and marketir 24,26 32,62: 48,96 61,51« 70,97(
General and administratiy 5,91« 8,10: 8,97 14,51 14,31(
Goodwill amortizatior 33t — — — —
Litigation reserve: — — — — 802
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensatior
Research and developm — 30¢€ 454 40C 293
Sales and marketir — 34¢€ 71t 733 37t
General and administratiy — 867 47¢€ 391 24¢
Total operating expens 34,94¢ 49,60: 67,80¢ 87,46¢ 99,54:
Income (loss) from operatiol (15,309 10,61: 16,031 35,35: 52,15¢
Interest incom 30¢ 11¢ 364 1,59: 4,10
Interest expens (939 (1,240 (901) — —
Extinguishment of det — — (5,86¢) — —
Other expens (47¢%) (19) (59) (560 (1,770
Income (loss) before tax (16,41 9,47: 9,57: 36,38t 54,49(
Provision for (benefit from) income tax 3,072 1,33¢ (3,529 12,92: 20,86

Net income (loss (19,489 8,13¢ 13,091 23,46: 33,62
Deemed dividend on preferred stc — (17,887 — —
Net income (loss) attributable to commr

stockholders $(19,489) $ (9,742 $ 13,090 $ 23,46¢ $ 33,62
Net income (loss) per share attributable to com

stockholders
Basic(1) $ (066 $ (04€ $ 05E $ 077 $ 1.04

Diluted(1) $ (066 $ (046 $ 04¢ $ 07z $  0.9¢

(1) Information regarding calculation of per share datdescribed in Note 3 to the consolidated financi
statements
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December 31,
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 9,152 $19,88( $ 73,60f $141,71! $173,18:

Working capital 16,17¢ 13,75: 130,75¢ 180,69t 230,41t
Total asset 62,90: 93,85, 205,14t 300,23t 356,29
Total current liabilities 44,89 76,39¢ 70,207 115,04 120,29:
Redeemable convertible preferred st 44,07¢ 48,05: — — —
Total stockholdel' equity (deficit) (26,067 (30,597 134,93¢ 185,19« 236,00

Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations togeth&th the
audited consolidated financial statements and ntuiéle financial statements included elsewhetéis
Form 1(-K. This discussion contains forward-looking stagats that involve risks and uncertainties. The &ool
looking statements are not historical facts, buhea are based on current expectations, estimates)mptions and
projections about our industry, business and fufimancial results. Our actual results could diffeaterially from
the results contemplated by these forward-lookiagesnents due to a number of factors, includingé¢hdiscussed
under “Risk Factors” in Part |, ltem 1A above.

Business Overview

We design, develop and market innovative networkiraglucts that address the specific needs of dyualhes
and home users. We are focused on satisfying dasgeoreliability, performance and affordabiligquirements of
these users. Our product offerings enable useskare Internet access, peripherals, files, digitatimedia content
and applications among multiple personal computer®Cs, and other Internet-enabled devices.

We sell our networking products through multipléesachannels worldwide, including traditional rées,
online retailers, wholesale distributors, DMRs, V&ARNd broadband service providers. We have we#ldped
channels in the United States and EMEA and arelimgjla strong presence in the Asia Pacific regia.derive a
substantial portion of our net revenue from intéoral sales. International sales as a percenthgetaevenue gre
from 51% in 2004 to 56% in 2005. Sales in Europildié East and Africa, or EMEA, grew from $159.6lfan in
2004 to $200.0 million in 2005, representing amease of approximately 25% during that period. \Gigtiaue to
penetrate new markets such as Belgium, China, EaStaope, India, Italy, Japan, Norway, Russia, tued
Netherlands

Our net revenue grew 17.3% during the year endeémber 31, 2005, with strong growth coming fronesal
of our wireless LAN products to the home markepeesally the new RangeMax family of products andtowed
strength in G and Super-G products as well as &sg@ gross shipments of our broadband gateway$.awéealso
had continued success in obtaining cost reductonsefficiencies from our vendors and manufactu@ard have
pursued product redesigns when appropriate toduftiwer productions costs. These decreasing comtgpled with
slowing in the decrease of average selling prisessted our margins on our older products, espgdal G and
Super G wireless adapters.

The small business and home networking marketssgrsely competitive and subject to rapid techgicial
change. We expect our competition to continue tenisify. We believe that the principal competitfaetors in the
small business and home markets for networkingymrtsdnclude product breadth, size and scope ofdles
channel, brand name, timeliness of new produobéhictions, product performance, features, functipnand
reliability, ease-of-installation, maintenance ariseé, and customer service and support. To remanpetitive, we
believe we must invest significant resources ineltgying new products, enhancing our current pragweotpanding
our channels and maintaining customer satisfactiordwide.
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Our gross margin improved to 33.7% for the yearendecember 31, 2005 from 32.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2004. This increase was due prim@ridyfavorable shift in product mix and our prodoasts
decreasing relatively more quickly than sales gricdfset by an increase in end-user customereslzatd other
sales incentives which reduce revenue along witteased freight and conversion costs. Operatingresgs for the
year ended December 31, 2005 were $99.5 millid22at% of net revenue and $87.5 million or 22.9% et
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Net income increased $10.1 million, to $33.6 millfor the year ended December 31, 2005 from $231Bm
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increaseprimarily due to an increase in gross prdfit o
$28.9 million, offset by an increase in operatingenses of $12.1 million and an increase in prowigor income
taxes of $8.0 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have beguaped in accordance with accounting principles galye
accepted in the United States of America. The pegjmm of these financial statements requires mameept to
make assumptions, judgments and estimates thdtasamna significant impact on the reported amouhéssets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base omnagsis on historical experience and on variousraksumptions
believed to be applicable and reasonable undasitbemstances. Actual results could differ sigrfidy from these
estimates. These estimates may change as new eeents as additional information is obtained asdar
operating environment changes. On a regular basiswaluate our assumptions, judgments and estiraatemake
changes accordingly. We also discuss our criticabanting estimates with the Audit Committee of Bward of
Directors. Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Raia Statements describes the significant accogrmiolicies
used in the preparation of the consolidated firerstatements. We have listed below our criticabaaoting policie:
which we believe to have the greatest potentiakichpn our consolidated financial statements. Iisatly, our
assumptions, judgments and estimates relativertardgical accounting policies have not differedtarally from
actual results.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tiiva product is shipped provided that persuasiwdeace o
an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss ressferred to the customer, the selling pricexsdior determinable
and collection of the related receivable is reabynassured. Currently, for some of the Companytsrnational
customers, title passes to the customer upon dglieehe port or country of destination or upoaithreceipt of the
product, and for selected retailers in the Uniteates to whom the Company sells directly, titleggssto the
customer upon their receipt of the product or ugencustomer’s resale of the product. At the enelach fiscal
guarter, the Company estimates and defers revefated to product where title has not transferfég: revenue
continues to be deferred until such time that pidsses to the customer. The amount and timingrofevenue for
any period could be materially different if our nagement made different judgments and estimates.

Allowances for Returns due to Stock Rotation and kianty, Price Protection, End-User Customer Rebates
Other Sales Incentives and Doubtful Accounts

In addition to warrantyelated returns, certain distributors and retaignserally have the right to return proc
for stock rotation purposes. Every quarter, stat&tion rights are limited to 10% of invoiced saleshe distributor
or retailer in the prior quarter. Upon shipmentha product, the Company reduces revenue for amasst of
potential future product warranty and stock rotatieturns related to the current period producenere.
Management analyzes historical returns, channeniory levels, current economic trends and chaimgesstomer
demand for the Company’s products when evaluatirgatiequacy of the allowance for sales returnselyam
warranty and stock rotation returns. Revenue oprsénts is also reduced for estimated price prateehd end-
user rebates and other sales incentives deemeddalds incentives under Emerging Issues Task FEtEF")
Issue No. 01-9. Our estimated allowances for retdire to stock rotation and warranty, and priceéggtamn can
vary from actual results and we may have to reediditional revenue reductions which could mateyrimipact our
financial position and results of operations.
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We record estimated reductions to revenues forusead-customer rebates at the later of when theetkla
revenue is recognized, or when the program is efféo the end consumer. Often qualified purchag®wsse not to
apply for the incentives or fail to follow the reémpd redemption guidelines, resulting in an incemtiedemption rat
of less than 100%. Based on historical data, wienagt a rebate redemption rate for our promotipnagrams and
book the related reduction to revenue accordirfgyould actual redemption rates differ from ourreates,
additional revenue reductions may be required.

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddatén accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Agnting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a CustomidReseller of the Vendor’s Products”. Under thesielglines,
the Company accrues for sales incentives as a miraglexpense if it receives an identifiable beniefitxchange ar
can reasonably estimate the fair value of the iflebte benefit received; otherwise, it is recordeda reduction of
revenues. Our estimated provisions for sales ingestan vary from actual results and we may havedord
additional expenses or additional revenue redusti@pendent on the classification of the saleniinea

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts fdinested losses resulting from the inability of cuistomers
to make required payments. We regularly perfornditevaluations of our customers’ financial coratitiand
consider factors such as historical experiencaligeality, age of the accounts receivable balapaad geographic
or country-specific risks and economic conditidmsttmay affect a customer’s ability to pay. ThewHhnce for
doubtful accounts is reviewed monthly and adjusitedcessary based on our assessments of our cerstoability
to pay. If the financial condition of our customel®uld deteriorate or if actual defaults are highan our historici
experience, additional allowances may be requisbith could have an adverse impact on operatingesgs.

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedykost being determined using the first-in, fvat method.
We continually assess the value of our inventoy &itl periodically write down its value for estiral excess and
obsolete inventory based upon assumptions abauefdemand and market conditions. On a quartedispave
review inventory quantities on hand and on ordetemmon-cancelable purchase commitments, including
consignment inventory, in comparison to our estéddbrecast of product demand for the next ninethsto
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleaBler analysis is based on the demand forecastkestinto
account market conditions, product developmentglproduct life expectancy and other factors. Basethis
analysis, we write down the affected inventory edior estimated excess and obsolescence chargé® point of
loss recognition, a new, lower cost basis for thegntory is established, and subsequent chandgestm and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorgase in that newly established cost basis. Amdstrated durin
2003, 2004 and 2005, demand for our products centuite significantly. If actual demand is lowearihour
forecasted demand and we fail to reduce our matwfag accordingly, we could be required to writench
additional inventory, which would have a negatiffe@ on our gross margin.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset antitiiapproach. Under this method, income tax eqeeis
recognized for the amount of taxes payable or @dbfe for the current year. In addition, defereeddssets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected futize consequences of temporary differences resuitong different
treatments for tax versus accounting of certaimstesuch as accruals and allowances not curreatlyadible for ta:
purposes. These differences result in deferredgagts and liabilities, which are included withia tonsolidated
balance sheet. We must then assess the likelift@batr deferred tax assets will be recovered fiure taxable
income and to the extent we believe that recovenpt more likely than not, we must establish aatbn
allowance. As of December 31, 2005, we believe @ahaif our deferred tax assets are recoverablegler, if there
were a change in our ability to recover our defibtex assets, we would be required to take a charte period in
which we determined that recovery was not mordytikean not.

Our effective tax rate differs from the statutoayer due to tax credits, state taxes, stock compiensand other
factors. Our future effective tax rate could be arjed by a shift in the mix of domestic and forgigtome, tax
treaties with foreign jurisdictions; changes in kaws in the United States or internationally; arofe which would
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result in a valuation allowance being requiredeadcorded; or a federal, state or foreign jurisaits view of tax
returns which differs materially from what we origlly provided. We assess the probability of advenstcomes
from tax examinations regularly to determine thecqaghcy of our income tax liability. If we ultimagadetermine
that payment of these amounts is unnecessary,weeseethe liability and recognize a tax benefitinyithe period i
which we determine that the liability is no longercessary. We record an additional charge in awigion for
taxes in the period in which we determine thatrdmrded tax liability is less than we expect thinate
assessment to be.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the consolidatedesteents of operations and the percentage changetifre
preceding year for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Percentagt Percentagt
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenue $299,30:. 28.(% $383,13¢ 17.3% $449,61(
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenu 215,33. 20.¢ 260,15! 14t 297,76¢
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensatiol 12¢ 27.% 162 (9.9 147
Total cost of revenu 215,46( 20.¢ 260,31¢ 14.4 297,91:
Gross profit 83,84 46.5 122,82: 23.5 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 8,22( 20.¢ 9,91¢ 26.5 12,54«
Sales and marketir 48,96 25.€ 61,51« 15.4 70,97(
General and administrati\ 8,971 61.7 14,51 (1.9 14,31(
Litigation reserve: — ** — *x 802
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensatior
Research and developm 454 (11.9 40C (26.¢) 293
Sales and marketir 71t 2.5 733 (48.9) 37t
General and administrati\ 47€ (17.9) 391 (36.9) 24¢
Total operating expens 67,80¢ 29.C 87,46¢ 13.¢ 99,54:
Income from operatior 16,031 120.¢ 35,35: 47.F 52,15¢
Interest incom 364 337.¢ 1,59¢ 157.¢ 4,10
Interest expens (901) (200.0 — *x —
Extinguishment of det (5,86¢) (100.0 — *x —
Other expens (59) 849.2 (560) 216.1 (1,770
Income before income tax 9,57t 280.1 36,38¢ 49.¢ 54,49(
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (3,529 ** 12,92: 61.t 20,86
Net income $ 13,09 79.2% $ 23,46¢ 43.% $ 33,62!

** Percentage change not meaningful as prior yeas sero or a negative amou
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The following table sets forth the consolidatedesteents of operations, expressed as a percentaggd of

revenue, for the periods presented:

Net revenu

Cost of revenue
Cost of revenu
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic
Total cost of revenu
Gross Margir
Operating expense
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administratiy
Litigation reserve:
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatio
Research and developm
Sales and marketir
General and administrati

Total operating expens

Income from operatior

Interest incom

Interest expens

Extinguishment of det

Other expens

Income before income tax

Provision for (benefit from) income tax
Net income

Net Revenue

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2004 2005

10C% 100% 10C%
72.C 67.¢ 66.2
0.C 0.C 0.1
72.C 67.C 66.S
28.C 32.1 33.7
2.7 2.€ 2.8
16.4 16.1 15.€
3.C 3.8 3.2
0.C 0.C 0.2
0.1 0.1 0.C
0.2 0.2 0.1
0.2 0.1 0.C
22.€ 22.C 22.1
54 9.2 11.€
0.1 0.4 0.6
(03 0C ocC
(20 0C 0C
0C (0.1) (0.4
3.2 9.t 121
(1.2) 34 46
4.0 6.1% 7.5%

Year Ended December 31

Percentagt Percentagt
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
Net revenue $299,30. 28.(% $383,13¢ 17.3% $449,61(

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmiests allowances for estimated returns for stotktion and
warranty, price protection, end-user customer exband other sales incentives deemed to be a iedwtnet

revenue per EITF Issue No. 01-9 and net changesfarred revenue.

Fiscal 2005 Net Revenue Compared to Fiscal 2004 Revenue

Net revenue increased $66.5 million, or 17.3%,443%6 million for the year ended December 31, 2G@8n
$383.1 million for the year ended December 31, 20004 continue to experience our seasonal pattehigber net
revenues in the second half of the year. The iser@garevenue was especially attributable to highérs of wireles
LAN products to the home market, especially the RamgeMax family of products and continued
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strength in G and Super-G products, as well agasad gross shipments of our broadband gatewagseThvenue
increases were partially offset by increases iomaihces made for end-user customer rebates andsatles
incentives associated with increased retail prodalgs.

We were able to slow down the pace of erosion imaerage selling prices on our relatively oldeydarcts in
2005 in part due to our new “minimum advertiseag@ripolicy with our U.S. retailers, as well as agel
slowdown in competitive pricing pressures.

End-user customer rebates and other sales incerfideertising, end-caps and cooperative marketing
programs) which are classified as reductions irrestnue increased in 2005, especially in therlagé of 2005
when we took advantage of significant strategintjpromotion opportunities with our biggest refaktners both in
the U.S. and in Europe. For example, we co-marketechew RangeMax family of products with U.S. aaél
retailers using a unified advertising campaign laivm ad circulars and new end-cap displays. Tles®ases in
spending combined with higher use of end-user costaebates impacted our revenue growth.

For the year ended December 31, 2005 revenue dedeénsthe United States, EMEA and Asia Pacific east
of world was 44.3%, 44.5% and 11.2%, respectivElye comparable net revenue for the year ended Demedd,
2004 was 48.8%, 41.6% and 9.6%, respectively. mbease in net revenue over the prior year comjpaviod
for each region was 6.6%, 25.3% and 37.5%, resfpyti

Fiscal 2004 Net Revenue Compared to Fiscal 2003 Retenue

Net revenue increased $83.8 million, or 28.0%,3831 million for the year ended December 31, 26@in
$299.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200& increase in revenue was attributable to aszd gross
shipments of our broadband and wireless produatsigfly offset by increases in allowances madeétates and
cooperative marketing programs associated witteamed retail product sales, sales returns and pritection.

For the year ended December 31, 2004 revenue dederithin the United States, EMEA and Asia Paoif&s
48.8%, 41.6% and 9.6%, respectively. The companmadieevenue for the year ended December 31, 2683 w
54.3%, 36.0% and 9.7%, respectively. The increasei revenue over the prior year comparable pédodach
region was 14.9%, 48.0% and 27.0%, respectivelg.ifibrease in all regions was attributable to iaseel shipment
of broadband and wireless products and Ethernétises, due in part to the continuous introductibneav product
into all channels.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31,
Percentagt Percentage¢
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Cost of revenue:

Cost of revenu $215,33. 20.8% $260,15! 14.52% $297,76-
Percentage of net reven 72.(% 67.% 66.2%
Amortization of deferred stock-based
compensatiol 12¢ 27.5 162 (9.9 147
Percentage of net reven 0.C% 0.C% 0.1%
Total cost of revenu $215,46( 20.6% $260,31! 14.4% $297,91:
Gross margin percentage 28.(% 32.1% 33. %

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followitige cost of finished products from our third-gagbntract
manufacturers; overhead costs including purchagiragluct planning, inventory control, warehousing a
distribution logistics; and freight, warranty coassociated with returned goods and write-downsXoess and
obsolete inventory. We outsource our manufacturvagehousing and distribution logistics. We beliéhis
outsourcing strategy allows us to better managemduct costs and gross margin. Our gross masgisd affecte
by other factors, including sales returns, chamge®t revenues due to average selling prices,used-customer
rebates and other sales incentives and changes tost of goods sold due to fluctuations in watyamnd
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overhead costs, prices paid for components, net¢mdor rebates, freigh; conversion costs and charges for ex
or obsolete inventory and transitions from olden¢aver products.

Cost of revenue increased $37.6 million, or 14.494297.9 million for the year ended December 3D52
from $260.3 million for the year ended DecemberZI)4. Our gross margin improved to 33.7% for tharyended
December 31, 2005, from 32.1% for the year endezker 31, 2004, an increase of 1.6 percentagéspdinis
increase was due primarily to a favorable shifbieduct mix and our product costs decreasing kelgtimore
quickly than sales prices, offset by an increasenith-user customer rebates and other sales inesntithich reduce
revenue along with increased freight and conversasts.

(We were able to slow down the pace of erosioruinaverage selling prices on our relatively olderducts in
2005 in part due to our new “minimum advertisea@tipolicy with our U.S. retailers, as well as agel
slowdown in competitive pricing pressures.) We halg® had continued success in obtaining cost tehscand
efficiencies from our vendors and manufacturers, lave pursued product redesigns when appropadtether
lower production costs. These decreasing cost@ledwvith the relative slowing in the decreasewarage selling
prices, boosted margins on our older products,aaiheour G and Super G wireless adapters. Addéily, we hav
benefited from relatively higher standard marginsiewer products, especially from our RangeMax fiaofi
products.

It is difficult to accurately forecast demand farr @roducts across our markets and within specdimtries.
The shift in the mix of actual orders comparedai@tasted demand resulted in a higher than noetiahce on
more expensive air versus surface freight duriregdlist quarter of 2005 as well as higher rework@thér costs
primarily related to product conversions among ¢ouapecific packaging.

Cost of revenue increased $44.9 million, or 20.8%%260.3 million for the year ended December 3D42
from $215.5 million for the year ended DecemberZI)3. Our gross margin improved to 32.1% for tearyended
December 31, 2004, from 28.0% for the year endezkBder 31, 2003. This improvement in gross marfh o
was due primarily to a favorable shift in produdkrand relatively lower product costs, as well psmtional
efficiency and supply chain management. We alsoeghrebates and prompt payment discounts fromuppliers,
which increased $4.7 million to $6.5 million in thear ended December 31, 2004 from $1.8 milliothenyear
ended December 31, 2003, an improvement of 1.18t0ss margin. These improvements in gross margie we
partially offset by an increase in cooperative netirlg costs and end-user rebates, as well as awmlaitallowances
to write down inventory resulting from anticipatedrranty returns. Cooperative marketing costs amdweser
rebates are recorded as a reduction in net revenue.

Operating Expenses
Research and development expense

Year Ended December 31,

Percentage¢ Percentagt
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Research and development expen: $8,22( 20.6% $9,91¢ 26.5% $12,54¢
Percentage of net reven 2.7% 2.€% 2.8%

Research and development expenses consist priroplgrsonnel expenses, payments to suppliersefsigd
services, tooling design costs, safety and reguylaésting, product certification expenditures tmlify our product:
for sale into specific markets, prototypes and otomsulting fees, and product certification fealfo third partie:
Research and development expenses are recognifieelyaare incurred. We have invested in buildingresearch
and development organization to allow us to intcadinnovative and easy to use products. We expeagirttinue to
add additional employees in our research and dpredat department. In the future we believe thagaresh and
development expenses will increase in absoluteadods we expand into new networking product teldyies,
enhance the ease-of-use of our products, and btaadecore competencies including the openingtestlab in
Beijing, China.
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Research and development expenses increased $of hoir 26.5%, to $12.5 million for the year enide
December 31, 2005, from $9.9 million for the yeaded December 31, 2004. The increase was prinugyto
increased salary and payroll related expenses.dfi§iflion resulting from research and developnrefdted
headcount growth. Employee headcount increase®¥%ytd 54 employees as of December 31, 2005 as cechpa
40 employees as of December 31, 2004. These heatdoateases were primarily due to the expansioouof
research and development facility in Taiwan andaespon of our focus on the broadband service pesvigarket
which often requires additional certifications aesting.

Research and development expenses increased $flon nair 20.6%, to $9.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, from $8.2 million for the yeaded December 31, 2003. The increase was prindugyto
increased product development costs of $871,000reneased salary and payroll related expenseS1d,$00
resulting from research and development relatedd¢mmt growth, as evidenced by our opening of ogiresering
center in Taiwan which accounted for nine additi@maployees, representing 21% of our worldwide aese and
development staff as of December 31, 2004.

Sales and marketing expense

Year Ended December 31

Percentage Percentage
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage date
Sales and marketing expense $48,96 25.6% $61,51¢ 15.2% $70,97(
Percentage of net reven 16.4% 16.1% 15.8%

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilgeéidising, trade shows, corporate communicatiorsathe
marketing expenses, personnel expenses for salanarketing staff, product marketing expenses anfrtical
support expenses. We believe that maintaining aildibg brand awareness is key to both net revgnaeith and
maintaining our gross margin. We also believe thaintaining widely available and high quality tectah support i
key to building and maintaining brand awarenessofdingly, we expect sales and marketing expersgstease
in absolute dollars in the future, related to tlenped growth of our business.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $9.5 mitlialb.4,% to $71.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from $61.5 million for the yeaded December 31, 2004. Of this increase, $5llomivas
due to product promotion, including intensifiedsitore staffing and training programs, advertisamy] outside
technical support expenses, all in support of imeeel volume. In addition, salary and related exgeefar additional
sales and marketing personnel increased by $2libmds a result of sales and marketing relatedi¢mant growth
from 125 employees as of December 31, 2004 to tpiayees as of December 31, 2005. We attributeof 23e
32 incremental employee additions to expansionNtER and APAC, where sales and marketing employee
headcount grew 46% and 35%, respectively. The @#seravas also attributable to additional allocatetiread cost
such as facilities and information systems costsuarting to $851,000, which reflects sales and ntaryjes larger
relative headcount growth rate and correspondihigliier share of overhead costs.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $12.6 mitiic25.6%, to $61.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, from $49.0 million for the yeaded December 31, 2003. Of this increase, $5llomivas
due to product promotion, advertising, outside bécdl support expenses incurred in support of icesiased sales
volume, and increased operating costs in internatimcations due to the weakening of the U.S.adafi relation to
the Euro and the British pound. In addition, sakang related expenses for additional sales andetiagkpersonnel
increased by $4.2 million resulting from sales aratketing related headcount growth, especiallytdiexpansion
in the EMEA and Asia Pacific regions, and freight oharges increased by $2.2 million primarily ipgort of
higher revenue.
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General and administrative expenst

Year Ended December 31

Percentage Percentage
2003 Change 2004 Change 2005
(In thousands, except percentage dat:
General and administrative expenst $8,971 61.7% $14,51: (1.4%) $14,31(
Percentage of net reven 3.% 3.&% 3.2%

General and administrative expenses consist ofiealand related expenses for executive, finande an
accounting, human resources, professional feesyatice for bad debts, and other corporate expenseexpect
general and administrative costs to increase inlatesdollars related to the growth of the busiressvell as to fun
the set up of our Ireland international operatioaster in 2006 to support our growing internatidnadiness.

General and administrative expenses decreasedxampittely $200,000, or 1.4%, to $14.3 million foethear
ended December 31, 2005, from $14.5 million forytear ended December 31, 2004. This decrease \vaarjy
due to a decrease in fees for professional sereiggsegating $1.7 million and a decrease in netated overhead
such as information systems costs aggregating 8888offset by an increase in employee relatecsanfst
$2.1 million. The decrease in fees for professiaealices resulted from decreases in consultingoouced
accounting fees and legal fees, and costs asseigite initial Sarbanes-Oxley 404 compliance docatagon in
2004. The increase in employee related costs egbfribm an increase in general and administragleged
headcount, particularly in the finance area to supgn increase in transactional processing dircreased
revenue. Employee headcount increased by 43% éwrtpBoyees as of December 31, 2005 as compared to 37
employees as of December 31, 2004. The decreams allocated overhead reflects the general andrestnative
function’s slower headcount growth rate relativetioer functional areas.

General and administrative expenses increased$iiién, or 61.7%, to $14.5 million for the yeardsd
December 31, 2004, from $9.0 million for the yeaded December 31, 2003. This increase was primduiyto
increased director and officer insurance costs66B#00 and fees for professional services aggregdt.7 million
Professional services fees consisted of systensuttorg, accounting fees for internal control doentation and
testing as well as outsourced accounting feesudia Sarbanes-Oxley 404 external audit fees, egal fees.
There were also additional costs associated with&®es-Oxley 404 compliance of $2.1 million andramease in
employee related costs of $1.5 million. The incegasemployee related costs resulted from an iser@ageneral
and administrative related headcount, particularthe Finance and Information Systems departmeants also
included employment taxes resulting from the exercf stock options.

Litigation reserves

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we redadellowance of $802,000 for the estimated aufsts
settlement for th&ilberman v. NETGEARwsuit. For a detailed discussion of our penditigdtion matters, please
see “ltem 3. Legal Proceedings” under Part | of teport.

Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation

During the year ended December 31, 2005, we redadwrtization of deferred stock-based compensation
$147,000 in cost of revenue, $293,000 in reseandidavelopment expenses, $375,000 in sales ancetimayk
expenses, and $249,000 in general and administratipenses. This compared to $163,000 in cosvehte,
$400,000 in research and development expenses,RB® sales and marketing expenses and $391n0géhieral
and administrative expenses in the year ended De=e8i, 2004 and $128,000 in cost of revenue, $494in
research and development expenses, $715,000 maademarketing expenses and $476,000 in genatal an
administrative expenses in the year ended Decef&ihe003. Our adoption of Statement of Financiatdumting
Standards 123 — revised 2004 (“SFAS 123R”) in trst fuarter of 2006 will result in the remainingferred stock-
based compensation balance of $468,000 as of Dexedib2005 being eliminated. See Note 1 of theeblt
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dismn.
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Interest income, interest expense and other expen

Year Ended December 31
2003 2004 2005
(In thousands)

Interest income, interest expense and other expen

Interest incom: $364 $1,59: $4,10¢
Interest expens (901) — —
Other expens (59 (560 (1,770
Total interest income, interest expense and otkeerese $(59€) $1,03¢ $2,33¢

Interest income represents amounts earned on ebr cash equivalents and short-term investmertereist
expense consists of interest paid on loans.

Other expense primarily represents gains and lazsé&snsactions denominated in foreign currenaiesother
miscellaneous expenses.

The aggregate of interest income, interest expemkpther expense amounted to net other income of
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@@5pared to net other income of $1.0 million fa fkear ended
December 31, 2004. This change was primarily dwntadditional $2.5 million in interest income tbe year
ended December 31, 2005, from the investment otasin, cash equivalents, and short-term investnbefasice
throughout the year. This was offset in part byremease in other expense of $1.2 million consjstiimarily of
realized and unrealized losses associated witlgio@irrency denominated transactions due in pagtitrency
volatility during the year as well as our billing foreign currencies which began in the first gesadf 2005.

The aggregate of interest income, interest expemskpther expense amounted to net other income of
$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2@@Mpared to net expense of $596,000 for the yedacen
December 31, 2003. This change was primarily dwedecrease of $901,000 in imputed interest expesseciated
with the Nortel Networks note, following the repagmt of the note in August 2003, as well as an auiuit
$1.2 million in interest income for the year endietember 31, 2004, from the investment of our tedance
throughout the year. This was offset in part byremease in other expense of $501,000 consistiimgapily of
realized and unrealized losses associated witlgfo@irrency denominated transactions.

Extinguishment of Debt

During the year ended December 31, 2003 we used $2illion of the proceeds from our initial pubbéfering
to repay debt that had a carrying value of $14lliani The repayment of debt resulted in the redtgm of an
extinguishment of debt charge of $5.9 million ie third quarter of 2003. There was no such chakentin the
year ended December 31, 2004 or December 31, ;

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes increased $8.0 millimna provision of $20.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005, from a provision of $12.9 millfor the year ended December 31, 2004. The effetaix rate
for the year ended December 31, 2005 was approgiyna8% and differed from our statutory rate of mpgmately
35% due to state taxes, and other non-deductilflereses, offset in part by tax credits. The effectax rate for the
year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately&@@¥differed from our statutory rate of approxinha®5%
due to non-deductible stock-based compensatiote, stees, and other non-deductible expenses, offgetrt by a
$1.5 million tax benefit from exercises of stockiops and tax credits.

Provision for income taxes increased $16.4 milltora provision of $12.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004, from a benefit of $3.5 millionthe year ended December 31, 2003. The effetaiveate for
the year ended December 31, 2004 was approxima®étyand differed from our statutory rate of appmeaiely
35% due to non-deductible stock-based compensatiate taxes, and other non-deductible expensisgt afi part
by a $1.5 million tax benefit from exercises ofcit@ptions and tax credits. The effective tax waées (37%) for the
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year ended December 31, 2003. The principal refsahe income tax benefit in this period was tbearsal of the
valuation allowance against our deferred tax asxfe$9.8 million offset by provisions on taxableame including
state taxes. The $5.9 million charge recorded B8Z0r extinguishment of debt was non-deductibletéx
purposes.

Net Income

Net income increased $10.1 million, to $33.6 millfor the year ended December 31, 2005 from $23IBm
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increaseprimarily due to an increase in gross prdfit o
$28.9 million, offset by an increase in operatingenses of $12.1 million and an increase in prowigor income
taxes of $8.0 million.

Net income increased $10.4 million, to $23.5 millfor the year ended December 31, 2004 from $13lbm
for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increasedue primarily to an increase in gross prdfit o
$39.0 million, offset by an increase in operatingenses of $19.7 million and an increase in prowigor income
taxes of $16.4 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31, 2005 we had cash, cash equisae short-term investments totaling $173.2 amilli

Our cash and cash equivalents balance increasedt®s.1 million as of December 31, 2004 to $90.Dioni
as of December 31, 2005. Our short-term investmeriiieh represent the investment of funds availédeurrent
operations, increased from $76.7 million as of Delwer 31, 2004 to $83.2 million as of December D52
Operating activities during the year ended Decer3theR005 generated cash of $26.6 million primadihg to an
increase in net income. Investing activities duting year ended December 31, 2005 used $10.8 mplionarily
for the net purchase of shderm investments of $6.6 million and purchasesroperty and equipment amounting
$4.2 million. During the year ended December 3D%@inancing activities provided $9.1 million, prarily
resulting from the issuance of common stock up@r@se of stock options and our employee stockhase
program.

Our days sales outstanding increased from 70 dagé Becember 31, 2004 to 77 days as of Decemher 31
2005.

Our accounts payable decreased from $52.7 millideaember 31, 2004 to $38.9 million at December 31
2005. The decrease of $13.8 million is due to itihhég of purchases and the Company’s decisionke &alvantage
of favorable discounts upon prompt payment.

Inventory decreased by $1.7 million from $53.6 ioillat December 31, 2004 to $51.9 million at Decengi,
2005. In the quarter ended December 31, 2005 werixed inventory turns of approximately 6.5, tqorf
approximately 5.3 turns in the quarter ended Deezr8h, 2004.

Based on our current plans and market conditiorshelieve that our existing cash, cash equival@mtsshort-
term investments will be sufficient to satisfy @unticipated cash requirements for the forseealtleduHowever,
we cannot be certain that our planned levels ofmae, costs and expenses will be achieved. If perating results
fail to meet our expectations or if we fail to mgaaur inventory, accounts receivable or othertasse could be
required to seek additional funding through publiprivate financings or other arrangements. Intadd as we
continue to expand our product offerings, chanaats geographic presence, we may require additisogding
capital. In such event, adequate funds may notvaisdle when needed or may not be available oar&e or
commercially acceptable terms, which could havegative effect on our business and results of dpes

Backlog

As of December 31, 2005, we had a backlog of apprately $15.7 million compared to approximately
$13.5 million as of December 31, 2004. Our backlogsists of products for which customer purchasersrhave
been received and which are scheduled or in theepsoof being scheduled for shipment. While we ebdquefulfill
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the order backlog within the current year, moseesdre subject to rescheduling or cancellatioh iitite or no
penalties. Because of the possibility of custonfranges in product scheduling or order cancellatonbacklog as
of any particular date may not be an indicatoretfsales for any succeeding period.
Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements

Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our commitments ttles@on-cancelable lease and purchase commitragsriié
December 31, 2005.

Less Thar 1-3 3-5
1 Year Years Years Total
(In thousands)
Operating lease $ 1551 $1,48¢ $21 $ 3,05¢
Purchase obligatior 38,48’ — — 38,48

$40,03¢ $1,48¢ $21 $41,54¢

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaocelable operating leases with various expinadiates
through February 2009. Rent expense was $1.1 miliothe year ended December 31, 2003, $1.3 miftw the
year ended December 31, 2004 and $1.5 millionHeryear ended December 31, 2005. The terms oadiléyf
lease provide for rental payments on a graduatalé sé/e recognize rent expense on a straight-kséstover the
lease period, and have accrued for rent expenser@ttbut not paid.

We enter into various inventory-related purchase@gents with suppliers. Generally, under theseeagents,
50% of the orders are cancelable by giving noti&¢o460 days prior to the expected shipment dade2&d6 of
orders are cancelable by giving notice 31-45 daigs [0 the expected shipment date. Orders areatelable
within 30 days prior to the expected shipment datddecember 31, 2005, we had $38.5 million in mamcelable
purchase commitments with suppliers.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any offifize sheet arrangements as defined in Item 3@3(@)(
of SEC Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Finand&kSents for recent accounting pronouncements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun iovestment portfolio. We have an investmentfotict of
fixed income securities that are classified as ilabée-for-sale securities.” These securities, Biefixed income
instruments, are subject to interest rate riskwaitidall in value if market interest rates increasVe attempt to limit
this exposure by investing primarily in short-teseturities. Due to the short duration and conseevaiature of our
investment portfolio a movement of 10% by markétiiest rates would not have a material impact aroparating
results and the total value of the portfolio over hext fiscal year.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreighaxge rate fluctuations due to our international
manufacturing and sales activities. We generallyeheot hedged currency exposures. These exposangstimange
over time as business practices evolve and cowdtively impact our operating results and financ@idition. In
the second quarter of 2005 we began to invoice suroar international customers in foreign curresdncluding
but not limited to, the Euro, Great Britain Pouddpanese Yen and the Australian dollar. As theoousts that are
currently invoiced in local currency become a langercentage of our business, or to the extenteginkto bill
additional customers in foreign currencies, theaoif fluctuations in foreign exchange rates cddde a more
significant impact on our results of operations: thwse customers in our international marketswreatontinue to
sell to in U.S. dollars, an increase in the valtithe U.S. dollar relative to foreign currenciesiitbmake our
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products more expensive and therefore reduce tinauie for our products. Such a decline in the dencatd
reduce sales and negatively impact our operatisigitse Certain operating expenses of our foreiggratons requir
payment in the local currencies. As of Decembe2BD5, we had net receivables in various localengies. A
hypothetical 10% movement in foreign exchange ratasld result in an after tax positive or negafivgact of
$1.7 million to net income at December 31, 2005.

Item 8. Consolidated Financial Statements and SupplementBrgta

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management of NETGEAR, Inc. is responsible for lglithing and maintaining adequate internal cortrar
financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-1&f)l 15(d)-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Ad984. The
Company’s internal control over financial reportisglesigned to provide reasonable assurance iagdte
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtaiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjechéorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesditions, or that the degree of compliance Withpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participatiooahagement, the Company assessed the effectivehitss
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2005. In conducting its evaluation, teen@Gany used
the criteria set forth in thimternal Control-Integrated Framewoiiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on its evaluation and those criteria, managéroncluded that the Company maintained effective
internal controls over financial reporting as ofd@mber 31, 2005. The Company’s independent regidigublic
accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, haxbted management’s assessment of the Compangisait
control over financial reporting, as stated in theport which appears herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
of NETGEAR, Inc.

We have completed integrated audits of NETGEAR, $12005 and 2004 consolidated financial statemerdt:
of its internal control over financial reporting @sDecember 31, 2005, and an audit of its 2003 clated
financial statements in accordance with the stat=daf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Our opinions, based on our auditspresented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial stement schedule

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated foalstatements listed in the index appearing under
Item 15 (a)(1) present fairly, in all material rests, the financial position of NETGEAR, Inc. at&lsubsidiaries at
December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results afdperations and their cash flows for each of ktined years in tt
period ended December 31, 2005 in conformity witboainting principles generally accepted in the &thibtates of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financsahtement schedule appearing under Item 15 (p)é&ents fairly,
in all material respects, the information set fdhbrein when read in conjunction with the relatedsolidated
financial statements. These financial statemerdgfiaancial statement schedule are the resportyibiithe
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements aaddial
statement schedule based on our audits. We corttlaateaudits of these statements in accordancethgth
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requitevtk plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabgut whether the financial statements are fresaterial
misstatement. An audit of financial statementslides examining, on a test basis, evidence supgdhamamounts
and disclosures in the financial statements, aggpte accounting principles used and signifiestimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall finarst@bement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment,dted in Management's Report on Internal ControltOve
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8, thatGlompany maintained effective internal controlrdireancial
reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on crigstizblished ifnternal Control — Integrated Framewoigsued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated,linreaterial
respects, based on those criteria. Furthermoryrimpinion, the Company maintained, in all mategapects,
effective internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2005, based on criteria estaliininternal
Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the COSO. The Company’s managementpsmeible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efniat control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to expseopinions on managementissessment and on the effectivene
the Company’s internal control over financial reépay based on our audit. We conducted our audittefnal
control over financial reporting in accordance vilib standards of the Public Company Accountingr€ght
Board (United States). Those standards requirentbagilan and perform the audit to obtain reasonakdeirance
about whether effective internal control over fio@h reporting was maintained in all material retpeAn audit of
internal control over financial reporting includastaining an understanding of internal control dgancial
reporting, evaluating management’s assessmentdestd evaluating the design and operating effenss of
internal control, and performing such other procedias we consider necessary in the circumstatebelieve
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopinions.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdthe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipieee A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (fapeto the maintenance of records that, in redsergetail,
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accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (iiyvjule reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as nactsgarmit preparation of financial statementsdgordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréipts and expenditures of the company are breadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (iii) provide reasoaassurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitted acquisition, use, or disposition of the comps assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that

controls may become inadequate because of chamgesidlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP
San Jose, California

March 13, 2006
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31

2004 2005
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 65,05: $ 90,00:
Shor-term investment 76,66: 83,18(
Accounts receivable, n 82,20t 104,26¢
Inventories 53,551 51,87:
Deferred income taxe 11,114 11,50:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 7,151 9,88z
Total current asse 295, 74( 350,70¢
Property and equipment, r 3,57¢ 4,702
Goodwill 55€ 55¢
Non-current deferred income tax 361 32¢
Total asset $300,23¢  $356,29°
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 52,74. $ 38,910
Accrued employee compensati 5,534 7,745
Other accrued liabilitie 50,96¢ 66,27¢
Deferred revenu 2,14 4,307
Income taxes payab 3,65¢ 3,05¢
Total current liabilities 115,04 120,29:
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Preferred Stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 sharg®rized in 2004 and 2005; none
outstanding in 2004 or 20( — —
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shardg®rized in 2004 and 2005;
shares issued and outstanding: 31,454,614 in 200482,963,596 in 200 31 33
Additional paic-in capital 188,90( 204,75:
Deferred stoc-based compensatic (1,882) (46¢)
Cumulative other comprehensive Ic () (90
Retained earnings (accumulated defi (1,849 31,77
Total stockholder equity 185,19 236,00
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $300,23¢  $356,29°

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Net revenue $299,30: $383,13¢ $449,61(
Cost of revenue
Cost of revenu 215,33 260,15! 297,76
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic 12¢ 162 147
Total cost of revenu 215,46( 260,31¢ 297,91:
Gross profit 83,84: 122,82: 151,69¢
Operating expense
Research and developm 8,22( 9,91¢ 12,54«
Sales and marketir 48,96: 61,51« 70,97(
General and administratiy 8,971 14,51 14,31(
Litigation reserve: — — 802
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatio
Research and developm 454 40C 293
Sales and marketir 71t 733 37&
General and administrati\ 47€ 391 24¢
Total operating expens 67,80 87,46¢ 99,54:
Income from operatior 16,03 35,35: 52,15¢
Interest incom 364 1,59: 4,104
Interest expens (907) — —
Extinguishment of det (5,86%) — —
Other expens (59) (560 (1,770
Income before income tax 9,57 36,38¢ 54,49(
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (3,529 12,921 20,86
Net income $ 13,097 $ 23,46F $ 33,620
Net income per shar
Basic $ 058 $ 077 $ 104
Diluted $ 04 $ 07z $ 0.9¢
Weighted average shares outstanding used to comptitacome per shar
Basic 23,65! 30,44 32,35
Diluted 26,80( 32,62¢ 33,93¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

Balance at December 31, 2C
Comprehensive incom

Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005
(In thousands, except share data)

Cumulative Retained
Additional Deferred Other Earnings
Common Stock Paid-In Stock-Based Comprehensive (Accumulated
Shares Amount  Capital Compensatior Income (LOsS) Deficit) Total

—$ —$1281($ (4,99)$

$ (38,410 $(30,597)

Unrealized gain on sh«term investment — — — — 13 — 13

Net income — — — — — 13,097 13,097

Total comprehensive incon — — — — — — 1411
Deferred stoc-based compensatic — — 1,024 (1,024 — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensatiol — — — 1,77: — — 1,77¢
Conversion of Preferred Stock into common

stock 20,228,48 20 48,01¢ — — —  48,03¢
Issuance of common stock in initial public

offering (net of issuance costs of $2,9 8,050,00! 8 101,80: — — — 101,80¢
Exercise of common stock warrai 218,75( — 283 — — — 282
Repurchase of common sta (20,157 — (289 — — — (289
Exercise of common stock optio 141,89¢ — 80% — — — 80&
Balance at December 31, 2C 28,618,96 28 164,45¢ (4,24% 13 (25,317 134,93¢
Comprehensive incom

Unrealized loss on shrterm investment — — — — (20 — (20

Net income — — — — — 23,46  23,46f

Total comprehensive incon — — — — — —  23,44F
Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensatiol — — (67¢) 67¢ — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensatiol — — — 1,68¢ — — 1,68¢
Exercise of common stock optio 2,796,42 3 12,96t — — —  12,96¢
Issuance of common stock under employe

stock purchase ple 39,217 — 381 — — — 381
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — —  11,77: — — —  11,77:
Balance at December 31, 2C 31,454,61 31 188,90( (1,889 7) (1,84¢ 185,19:
Comprehensive incom

Unrealized loss on shrterm investment — — — — (83) — (83)

Net income — — — — — 33,620 33,62:

Total comprehensive incon — — — — — —  33,54(
Reversal of deferred stock-based

compensatiol — — (350 35C — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensatiol — — — 1,06¢ — — 1,06¢
Exercise of common stock optio 1,422,12: 2 8,101 — — — 8,10t
Issuance of common stock under empla

stock purchase ple 86,85¢ — 1,002 — — — 1,00z
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — — 7,101 — — — 7,101
Balance at December 31, 2C 32,963,59 $ 33 $204,75¢ $ (46€) $ (900 $ 31,77 $236,00:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31
2003 2004 2005

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 13,090 $ 23,46f $ 33,62:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by (used in)
operating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic 2,007 2,59: 3,06¢
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic 1,773 1,68¢ 1,06¢
Tax benefit from exercise of stock optic — 11,77: 7,101
Deferred income taxe (9,056 (2,419 (35€)
Accretion of note payable to Nortel Netwol 83¢ — —
Extinguishment of debt chart 5,86¢ — —
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n (31,679 (8,037) (22,06¢)
Inventories (14,497 (14,29) 1,68¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (1,86¢€) (2,282) (2,73))
Accounts payabl 6,577 21,85( (13,830)
Accrued employee compensati 49€ 1,66: 2,20¢
Other accrued liabilitie 1,88( 19,66 15,31
Deferred revenu (2,679 (237) 2,16(
Income taxes payab 831 1,89/ (604)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi (26,400 57,325 26,63¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of shc-term investment (58,728 (451,28°) (124,47)
Proceeds from sale of sh-term investment 12,85 420,49: 117,87:
Purchase of property and equipm (2,489 (2,54¢€) (4,197
Net cash used in investing activit| (48,36¢) (33,339 (10,797
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowing under line of cred 17,00( — —
Repayments under line of cre (27,000 — —
Repayment of note payable to Nortel Netwc (20,000 — —
Issuance of common stock in initial public offeri 101,80¢ — —
Repurchase of Series A Preferred St (13) — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraplstock purchase
plan — 381 1,00z
Proceeds from exercise of stock optir 80% 12,96¢ 8,10¢
Net cash provided by financing activiti 82,60 13,34¢ 9,10t
Net increase in cash and cash equival 7,83¢ 37,333 24,95(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 19,88( 27,71 65,052
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 27,71F $ 65,05: $ 90,00:
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for income tax $ 484C $ 3,297 $ 14,72¢
Cash paid for intere: $ 67 $ —  $ —
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and finaing:
Conversion of Preferred Stock to common st $ 48,03¢ $ — 3 =
Cashless exercise of warrants and net common &sa&c $ 28: $ — 3 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Note 1—The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Blicies:

The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company”) was ingmrated in Delaware in January 1996. The
Company designs, develops and markets networkiodugts for small business, which we define as @bas with
fewer than 250 employees, and home users. We anedd on satisfying the ease-of-use, quality, viiig,
performance and affordability requirements of thesers. Our product offerings enable users to dnseenet
access, peripherals, files, digital multimedia eabfand applications among multiple personal coesubr PCs,
and other Internet-enabled devices. We sell owlymts primarily through a global sales channel netywwhich
includes traditional retailers, online retailersedt market resellers, or DMRs, value added resglbor VARS, and
broadband service providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company and its whmiiyec
subsidiaries. All inter-company accounts and tratisas have been eliminated in the consolidatiothese
subsidiaries. Certain reclassifications have beadeno prior period reported amounts to conforroutwent year
presentation.

Fiscal periods

The Company’s fiscal year begins on January 1ef/tdar stated and ends on December 31 of the saane y
The Company reports its results on a fiscal quéxdsis rather than on a calendar quarter basiseithd fiscal
quarter basis, each of the first three fiscal garénds on the Sunday closest to the calendateqesd, with the
fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia
United States of America requires management tceregkmates and assumptions that affect the repanwunts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of corgimgassets and liabilities at the date of the fir@rstatements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expensegdhgneporting period. Actual results could diffierm those
estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity at the time of purchase of threanths or
less to be cash equivalents. The Company depesitsand cash equivalents with high credit quaiitsricial
institutions.

Short-term investments

Short-term investments comprise marketable seesriliat consist of government securities with agiral
maturity or a remaining maturity at the time of ghase, of greater than three months and less wedvet months.
Also included in short-term investments are auctaie securities whose reset dates were less lihag months,
however the underlying security’s maturity was ¢geshan three months. As the Company views allisées as
representing the investment of funds availabletorent operations, the securities are classifseeshart-term
investments. All marketable securities are helthe@Company’s name and are held primarily with bigh quality
banking institutions. All of the Company’s markd&abecurities are classified as available-for-saleurities in
accordance with the provisions of Statement of féred Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accwing For
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securitersd are carried at fair value with unrealized gaind losses
reported as a separate component of stockholdguitye
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company’s products are concentrated in thear&tag industry, which is characterized by rapid
technological advances, changes in customer ragairs and evolving regulatory requirements andstrgiu
standards. The success of the Company dependsragaraent’s ability to anticipate and/or to respquitkly and
adequately to technological developments in itsigtiy, changes in customer requirements, or chaingegulatory
requirements or industry standards. Any signifiaaiays in the development or introduction of pradicould hav:
a material adverse effect on the Company’s busiaedperating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiparto manufacture all of its products. If anythod
Company’s third party manufacturers cannot or mat manufacture its products in required volumesa @ost-
effective basis, in a timely manner, or at all, @@mpany will have to secure additional manufaomdapacity. An
interruption or delay in manufacturing could haveaterial adverse effect on the Companiyusiness and operati
results.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject@@mpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and
cash equivalents, short-term investments and atsoeceivable. The Company believes that therengmal credit
risk associated with the investment of its cash@agh equivalents and sheetm investment, due to the high que
banking institutions in which its investments aepdsited and the restrictions placed on the typewastment that
can be entered into under the Company’s investmpaity.

The Company’s accounts receivable are derived fimranue earned from customers located in the United
States and in numerous international locationsratdbe world. The Company’s customers are primarily
distributors, retailers and broadband service plena who sell the products to a large group ofissds. The
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations ofitstomers’ financial condition and, generally, lieggino
collateral from its customers. The Company mairstain allowance for doubtful accounts receivabletagpon the
estimated rates of failure to pay by customers.

The following table summarizes the percentage ®@Gbmpany’s total accounts receivable represented b
customers with balances in excess of 10% of itd sitcounts receivable as of December 31, 2002608.

December 31

2004 2005
Ingram Micro, Inc. 27% 21%
Tech Data Corporatio 17% 15%
Best Buy Co., Inc. 15% 17%

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financialrinaents, including cash and cash equivalents,uattso
receivable, prepaid expenses, accounts payablejeatemployee compensation and other accrueditiebil
approximate their fair values due to their shorturities. See Note 2 for disclosures regardingfaliirevalue of the
Company’s short-term investments.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of finished goods eihiare valued at the lower of cost or market, bestg
determined using the first-in, first-out method eT@ompany writes down its inventories based omedéd excess
and obsolete inventories determined primarily kiyfel demand forecasts. At the point of loss redégmia new,
lower cost basis for that inventory is establistead] subsequent changes in facts and circumstdoaest result in
the restoration or increase in that newly estabtistost basis.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at historicd| tess accumulated depreciation. Depreciatiomisputed
using the straight-line method over the estimateful lives of the assets as follows:

Computer equipmet 2 years

Furniture and fixture 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipme 1-3 years

Leasehold improvemen Shorter of the lease term or 5 ye

The Company accounts for impairment of property equipment in accordance with SFAS No. 144
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets.” Recoverability of assets to be laid used is
measured by comparing the carrying amount of aetéasshe estimated undiscounted future cash flewpected to
be generated by the asset. If the carrying amduthiecasset exceeds its estimated undiscounteckefott cash
flows, an impairment charge is recognized by thewmh by which the carrying amount of the asset edsehe fair
value of the asset. The carrying value of the @ssewiewed on a regular basis for the existeridaats, both
internal and external, that may suggest impairnigme. Company did not recognize impairment chargesy of
the periods presented.

Goodwill

The Company applies SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill andediimtangible Assets” and performs an annual
impairment test. For purposes of impairment testing Company has determined that it has only eperting unit.
The identification and measurement of goodwill ifnpeent involves the estimation of the fair valuetiod
Company. The estimates of fair value of the Commmeybased on the best information available diseoflate of
the assessment, which primarily includes the Cowyiganarket capitalization and incorporates managgme
assumptions about expected future cash flows.

Product warranties

The Company provides for future warranty obligasiohhe warranties are generally for one or moresyttam
the date of purchase by the end user. The Compéaabikty under these warranties is to provideeplacement
product or issue a credit to the customer wherlid gkaim is received. Because the Company’s prisiace
manufactured by a contract manufacturer, in mast€the Company has recourse to the contract nwardafor
replacement or credit for the defective productee Tompany accounts for warranty returns similatock rotatior
returns. That is, revenue on shipments is redumedstimated returns for product under warrantgtéta that affec
the Company’s warranty liability include the numlo¢installed units, historical experience and ngamaent’s
judgment regarding anticipated rates of warrardynts. The Company assesses the adequacy of itantatiability
every quarter and makes adjustments to the liglifiliiecessary. Changes in the Comparnwarranty liability, whic
is included as a component of “Other accrued ligds!’ on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, durimgythars
indicated are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 2005
Balance as of beginning of ye $11,95¢ $10,76¢
Provision for warranty liability for sales made ohgy the yea 18,181 25,087
Settlements made during the y: (19,380 (24,009)
Balance at end of ye $10,76¢ $11,84¢
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tiva product is shipped provided that persuasiidence o
an arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hassfterred to the customer, the selling pricexedior determinable
and collection of the related receivable is reabbnassured. Currently, for some of the Companyternational
customers, title passes to the customer upon dglteethe port or country of destination or upoaithreceipt of the
product, and for selected retailers in the Uniteates to whom the Company sells directly, titlegessto the
customer upon their receipt of the product or ughencustomer’s resale of the product. At the enelach fiscal
quarter, the Company estimates and defers revetated to product where title has not transferfés: revenue
continues to be deferred until such time that itfe passes to the customer.

In addition to warrantyelated returns, certain distributors and retaifgnserally have the right to return proc
for stock rotation purposes. Every quarter, stat&tion rights are limited to 10% of invoiced saleshe distributor
or retailer in the prior quarter. Upon shipmenttaf product, the Company reduces revenue for éamatst of
potential future product warranty and stock rotatieturns related to the current period productnere.
Management analyzes historical returns, channelntory levels, current economic trends and chaimgesstomer
demand for the Company’s products when evaluatirgatiequacy of the allowance for sales returnselyam
warranty and stock rotation returns. Revenue oprsénts is also reduced for estimated price pratecind sales
incentives deemed to be contra revenue under Enelggues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 01-9.

The Company records estimated reductions to rewefanend-user customer rebates at the later ohwhe
related revenue is recognized or when the progsaofféred to the end consumer. Often qualified pasers choose
not to apply for the incentives or fail to followe required redemption guidelines, resulting inneentive
redemption rate of less than 100%. Based on histiodiata, the Company estimates rebate redemgttes for its
promotional programs and records such amountgedugtion to revenue.

Sales incentives

Sales incentives provided to customers are accddatén accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, “Agnting
for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customdreseller of the Vendor’s Products”. Under thegielglines,
the Company accrues for sales incentives as a miraglexpense if it receives an identifiable beniefitxchange ar
can reasonably estimate the fair value of the iflebte benefit received; otherwise, it is recorageda reduction to
revenues. As a consequence, the Company recoudstastial portion of its channel marketing costs.aieduction
of revenue.

Shipping and handling fees and costs

In September 2000, the EITF issued EITF Issue Rdl@ “Accounting for Shipping and Handling Feesd an
Costs.” EITF Issue No. 00-10 requires shipping laadling fees billed to customers to be classifisdevenue and
shipping and handling costs to be either class#igdost of revenue or disclosed in the notesg@dimsolidated
financial statements. The Company includes shippimtjhandling fees billed to customers in net reeeshipping
and handling costs associated with inbound fredg@tincluded in cost of revenue. Shipping and hiagdlosts
associated with outbound freight paid directly by Company are included in sales and marketingresqseand
totaled $4.2 million, $6.4 million and $6.7 million the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004 arfsi 200
respectively. In cases where the Company givesight allowance to the purchaser for their own immbfreight
costs, such costs are appropriately recorded edugtion in net revenue.

Research and development

Costs incurred in the research and developmentwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.
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Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Totarising and promotional expenses were $12.8anill
$11.9 million and $14.5 million in the years end®etember 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under an asddiability approach. Under this method, incatawe
expense is recognized for the amount of taxes payabrefundable for the current year. In additideferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the ebgueftiture tax consequences of temporary differ@nesulting from
different treatments for tax versus accountingestain items, such as accruals and allowancesunatrntly
deductible for tax purposes. These differencedtresdeferred tax assets and liabilities, which arcluded within
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company mestabsess the likelihood that the Company’s defdeve assets
will be recovered from future taxable income anthi® extent the Company believes that recovergptisiore likely
than not, the Company must establish a valuatilovahce.

The Company assesses the probability of adversemegts from tax examinations regularly to deterntiree
adequacy of the Company’s income tax liabilitythé Company ultimately determines that paymenhe$é
amounts is unnecessary, the Company reversesatikityi and recognizes a tax benefit during theéqukin which
the Company determines that the liability is noglennecessary. The Company records an additiomadjehn the
Company’s provision for taxes in the period in whtbhe Company determines that the recorded taititiais less
than the Company expects the ultimate assessméat to

Computation of net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted netineger share reflects the additional dilution frootential
issuances of common stock, such as stock issuabdeignt to the exercise of stock options. Potdwntikillutive
shares are excluded from the computation of dilagtdncome per share when their effect is antiisiu

Stock-based compensation

In accordance with SFAS No. 123, (SFAS 123) “Acdamgfor Stock-Based Compensation”, the Company
accounts for employee stock-based compensatioccordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinidm 25
(APB 25), “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employgesd Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Interpretation No. 44 (FIN 44), “Accounting for Gain Transactions Involving Stock-Based Compensatn
Interpretation of APB Opinion No. 25" and relatedieirpretations in accounting for its stock-basempensation
plans. In accordance with EITF No. 96-18, “Accongtfor Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Offilean
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with &) Goods or Services”, stock-based compensagtatad to
non-employees is based on the fair value of tretadlstock or options in accordance with SFAS 12Bits
interpretations. Expense associated with stockebesmpensation is amortized over the vesting pesfaehch
individual award.
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Had compensation cost for the Company’s stock-basetpensation plans been determined based onithe fa

value at the grant dates for the awards under hodgirescribed by SFAS No. 123, the Company’snime
would have been adjusted to the amounts indicatmhb(in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Net income as reporte $13,097 $23,46f $33,62:
Add: Employee stoc-based compensation included in reported net inc 1,77: 1,68i 1,06¢
Less: Total employee stock-based compensationrdigted under fair-value

method, net of taxe (5,846 (4,329) (9,689
Pro forma net incom $ 9,022 $20,82! $25,00:
Basic net income per sha

As reportec $ 058 $ 077 $ 1.04

Pro forma $ 03t $ 068 $ 0.77
Diluted net income per shat

As reportec $ 04¢ $ 0.7z $ 0.9¢

Pro forma $ 034 $ 064 $ 0.74

Comprehensive income

Under SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Incontee”€ompany is required to display comprehensive
income and its components as part of the finarstéabments. The Company has displayed its compsateen
income as part of the Consolidated Statementsawk@blders’ Equity (Deficit).

Foreign currency translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. ddibe all of its international subsidiaries. Foneigurrency
assets and liabilities are translated into U.Sadekt the end-of-pericgixchange rates except for fixed assets, w
are translated at historical exchange rates. Exgseai® translated at average exchange rates at ééféng each
period, except for depreciation expense, whichaisdlated at historical exchange rates. Reventuanslated at the
daily rate in effect as of the date the order shens and losses arising from foreign currenaggactions are
included in net income and were net losses of $&9,$560,000 and $1.8 million for the years endeddbnber 31,
2003, 2004 and 2005, respectively.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15¢€iory Costs — An Amendment of ARB No. 43,
Chapter 4.” This statement clarifies the accountorgabnormal amounts of idle facilities expenseight, handling
costs and wasted material. This statement regthieegthose items be recognized as current-peripdrese. In
addition the statement requires that allocatiofixefd overhead to the cost of conversion be basetth® normal
capacity of the production facilities. This staternis effective for inventory costs incurred afie@cember 31, 200
The adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not expected termwmaterial effect on the Company’s consolidaiteahtial
position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Stansl&wlard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards 123 — revised 2004 (“SFAS I23Bhared-Based Payment” which replaces Staterofent
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (“SFAS 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” and
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supersedes APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25"), “Accougtifor Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R rexguihe
measurement of all employee share-based paymeatsgtyees, including grants of employee stockomsti using
a fair-value-based method and the recording of sagense in the Company’s consolidated stateménts o
operations. In April 2005, the SEC announced thaticcounting provisions of SFAS 123R are to béieghn the
first quarter of the fiscal years beginning aftend 15, 2005. As a result, the Company is now redub adopt
SFAS 123R in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 aritl Kecognize stock-based compensation expensej s
modified prospective method. The pro forma disalesypreviously permitted under SFAS 123 no longéroe an
alternative to financial statement recognition. 8eeStockBased Compensation section above for the pro foret
income and net income per share amounts as if thep@ny had used a fair-value-based method sinoildret
methods required under SFAS 123R to measure cormpem&xpense for employee stock incentive awards.
Company is in the process of assessing the impaatapting this new standard, including the traositnethod and
option pricing model to select.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153h&xges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB
Opinion No. 29 (“SFAS 153"). SFAS 153 addressesnie@surement of exchanges of nonmonetary assets and
redefines the scope of transactions that shoulddmsured based on the fair value of the assetaegel.

SFAS 153 is effective for the Company for nonmonetesset exchanges beginning in the first quaftéscal 2006
The adoption of SFAS 153 is not expected to havagerial effect on the Compamsyconsolidated financial positi
or results of operations.

In March 2005, the SEC staff issued guidance onSSE23R. Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 197
was issued to assist preparers by simplifying sohtke implementation challenges of SFAS 123R wéilbancing
the information that investors receive. SAB 107ates a framework that is premised on two overagctliemes:
(a) considerable judgment will be required by prepato successfully implement SFAS 123R, spedijicghen
valuing employee stock options; and (b) reasonmdliziduals, acting in good faith, may concludefeliéntly on the
fair value of employee stock options. Key topicsared by SAB 107 include: (a) valuation models —BSK)7
reinforces the flexibility allowed by SFAS 123Rdboose an option-pricing model that meets the stabsl fair
value measurement objective; (b) expected volatitit SAB 107 provides guidance on when it would be appate
to rely exclusively on either historical or impligdlatility in estimating expected volatility; arfd) expected term —
the new guidance includes examples and some siathbépproaches to determining the expected terranuoettair
circumstances. The Company will give consideratim8AB 107 in conjunction with its adoption of SFA33R.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FIN 47, “Accountfog Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 143" (“FIN 4,7/Which requires an entity to recognize a liabifibr the fair
value of a conditional asset retirement obligatidren incurred if the liability’s fair value can beasonably
estimated. FIN 47 is effective for fiscal years iagdafter December 15, 2005 and was adopted bZtmepany in
the year ended December 31, 2005. The adoptiofNofiF did not have a material effect on the Company
consolidated financial position or results of opierss.

In May 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154 ctdmting Changes and Error Corrections” (“SFAS }54”
a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Accountinga@bes”, and Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting
Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” SFAS difghges the requirements for the accounting fortlaad
reporting of a change in accounting principle. Rresly, most voluntary changes in accounting pples required
recognition by recording a cumulative effect adjusat within net income in the period of change. SF&4
requires retrospective application to prior peridiigncial statements, unless it is impracticaioleetermine either
the specific period effects or the cumulative dffefche change. SFAS 154 is effective for accougtihanges ma
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 200 adoption of SFAS 154 is not expected to haveterial
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial fisior results of operations.

In June 2005, the FASB issued FSP FAS 143-1, “Acting for Electronic Equipment Waste
Obligations” (“FSP 143-1"), which provides guidarme the accounting for certain obligations assediatith the
Directive on
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Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (the &tive”), which was adopted by the European Unf&t().
Under the Directive, the waste management obligdtio historical equipment (products put on the ketion or
prior to August 13, 2005) remains with the commaraser until the equipment is replaced. FSP 1#43r&quired to
be applied to the later of the first reporting pdrending after June 8, 2005 or the date of thediire’s adoption
into law by the applicable EU member countries malu the Company has significant operations. Then@amy
adopted FSP 143 the third quarter of fiscal 2005 and has detagdithat its effect did not have a material im
on its consolidated results of operations and firerposition for fiscal 2005. The Company is cantng to evaluai
the impact of the WEEE Legislation and similar &giion in other jurisdictions as individual couegrissue their
implementation guidance. See Note 5 for furthecwlision.

In August 2005, the Financial Accounting Standadard (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position FAS 123(R)-
“Classification and Measurement of Freestandingrigiad Instruments Originally Issued in ExchangeEonployee
Services under FASB Statement No. 123(R)” (“FSP(R?3"). FSP 123(R)-1 indefinitely defers the regument of
SFAS 123(R) that a freestanding financial instrutreeiginally subject to SFAS 123(R) becomes subjeaither
applicable GAAP when the rights conveyed by thérimsent to the holder are no longer dependent erndider
being an employee of the entity. Generally, thataginder stock-based payment awards issued toogegd by the
Company are all dependent on the recipient beingngmioyee of the Company. The Company is currently
evaluating FSP 123(R)-1; however, the adoptiomiaf guidance is not expected to have a materiahainpn the
Company’s consolidated results of operations arfaial position.

In October 2005, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position
FAS 123(R)-2, “Practical Accommodation to the Applion of Grant Date as Defined in FASB Statememt N3
(R)” ("FSP 123(R)-2"). Statement 123(R) requiresnp@nies to estimate the fair value of share-baagthpnt
awards when the awards have been granted. One ofitaria for determining that an award has beantgd is tha
the employer and its employees have a mutual utaaetisg of the key terms and conditions of the awbnder
FSP 123(R)-2, a mutual understanding is presumedish on the date the award is approved by thed3ok
Directors or management with relevant authoritguasing certain conditions are met. FSP 123(R)apdicable
upon initial adoption of Statement 123(R). As regdj the Company will apply the guidance in FSP(R22
beginning on January 1, 2006. The Company is ctiyremaluating FSP 123(R)-2; however, the adoptibthis
guidance is not expected to have a material impathe Company’s consolidated results of operatiwrfancial
position.

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (FASB) issued final staff position (FSP}-111
and FSP 124-1, “The Meaning of Other-Than-Tempohayairment and Its Application to Certain Investrs3
which nullify certain requirements of Emerging lesurask Force (EITF) Issue No. 03-1 and superséide Eopic
No. B-44. The FSPs provide guidance for identifying iimg@investments and new disclosure requirememts fo
investments that are deemed to be temporarily iredaThe Company does not believe the impact optalo of the
measurement provisions of the FSPs will have ana&tmpact on its consolidated results of openradior financial
position.

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position FAS 123(R
3, “Transition Election Related to Accounting foetTax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards” (“ESHR)-
3"). FSP 123(R)-3 provides an alternative methodad€ulating the excess tax benefits availablebBpeb tax
deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adopfi®FAS 123(R). The calculation of excess tax bignedported
as an operating cash outflow and a financing inflowhe Statement of Cash Flows required by FSERY3 differs
from that required by SFAS 123(R). The Companyurad December 2006 to make a atiree election to adopt tl
transition method described in FSP 123(R)-3. Thea@any is currently evaluating FSP 123(R)-3; howgetrer
adoption of this guidance is not expected to hanaterial impact on the Company’s consolidatedItesd
operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Note 2—Balance Sheet Components (in thousands

Available-for-sale short-term investments consisttioe following:

December 31

2004 2005
Unrealized Estimated Unrealized Estimated
Cost Loss Fair Value Cost Loss Fair Value
Government Securitie $54,62( $ (7) $54,61: $83,27C $ (90) $ 83,18(
Auction Rate Securitie $22,05( — $22,05( — — —
Totals $76,67C $ (7) $76,66: $8327( $ (90) $ 83,18(

Accounts receivable and related allowances consfghe following:

Gross accounts receival

Less: Allowance for doubtful accour
Allowance for sales returr
Allowance for price protectio

Total allowance:
Accounts receivable, n

Inventories consist of the following:

Finished good

Property and equipment, net, consists of the foliog:

Computer equipmet

Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improveme
Software

Machinery

Construction in progres

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza

December 31

2004 2005
$94,76¢  $113,00!
(1,509 (1,295
(6,407 (5,985
(4,649 (1,456
(12,565 (8,736
$82,20  $104,26¢

December 31,
2004 2005

$53,55: $51,87¢

December 31,

2004 2005
$372¢ $ 4,51
1,03¢ 1,407
3,77¢ 4,527
2,97¢ 4,17t
— 1,09¢
11,51  15,70¢
(7,930 (11,000
$ 357¢ $ 4,70

Depreciation expense in 2003, 2004 and 2005 wasr#ilion, $2.6 million and $3.1 million, respectiy.
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Other accrued liabilities consist of the following:

December 31

2004 2005
Sales and marketing progral $29,277  $39,12¢
Warranty obligatior 10,76¢ 11,84¢
Outsourced engineering co: 1,87¢ 1,732
Freight 3,35¢ 5,81«
Other 5,691 7,762
Other accrued liabilitie $50,96¢  $66,27¢

Note 3—Net Income Per Share!

Immediately prior to the effective date of the C@my's initial public offering on July 30, 2003, tR®mpanys
outstanding Preferred Stock was automatically caedento 20,228,480 shares of common stock. Roiduly 30,
2003, the holders of Series A, B and C PreferrediSivere entitled to participate in all dividendsgpon common
stock, as and when declared by the Board of Directim an as-if converted basis. In accordance Eilift+ Topic
D-95, “Effect of Participating Convertible Secuwesion the Computation of Basic Earnings per Shére,Compan
has included the impact of Preferred Stock in ttramutation of basic earnings per share using tlve tlass”
method for the year ended December 31, 2003. Uhdemethod, an earnings allocation formula is used
determine the amount of net income attributableoimmon stockholders to be allocated to each clas®ok (the
two classes being common stock and Preferred StBelsjc net income per share attributable to common
stockholders is calculated by dividing the amoumiet income attributable to common shareholdeasith
apportioned to common stock by the weighted avenageber of shares of common stock outstanding duhia
period.

Net income per share applicable to each clasokgtommon stock and Preferred Stock) is as fadlGiw
thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Common Preferred Common Common

Stock Stock Stock Stock

Basic net income per share

Apportioned net incom $ 6,621 $ 647¢ $23,46f $33,62!
Total numerator for basic net income per st $ 6,621 $ 647¢ $23,46F $33,62!
Weighted average basic shares outstan 11,95¢ 11,69¢ 30,441 32,35
Basic net income per she $ 058 $ 058 $ 077 $ 1.04
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Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
Diluted net income per share:
Net income (numerato $13,097 $23,46F $33,62!
Weighted average shares outstand
Basic 11,95¢ 30,44: 32,35
Conversion of preferred stor 11,69¢ — —
Options 3,147 2,18t 1,58¢
Total diluted $26,80( $32,62¢  $33,93¢
Diluted net income per sha $ 04¢ $ 072 $ 0.9¢

Anti-dilutive common stock options and warrants aming to 175,000, 416,280, and 131,560 were exdud
from the weighted average shares outstanding &diflated per share calculation for 2003, 2004 2015,

respectively.

Note 4—Income Taxes:

Income before income taxes consists of the follogifin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
United State! $7,56: $32,74: $50,127
Internationa 2,01(C 3,64: 4,361
Total $9,57: $36,38¢  $54,49(

The provision for (benefit from) income taxes catsiof the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Current:
U.S. Federa $4,28: $13,11( $16,76¢
State 51z 1,197 2,79¢
Foreign 737 1,03: 1,65¢
5,532 15,34( 21,22
Deferred:
U.S. Federa (7,90¢) (2,427) (860)
State (1,14%) 8 504
(9,05¢6) (2,419 (35€)
Total $(3,524) $12,92.  $20,861
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Deferred tax assets consist of the following (ioubands):

December 31

2004 2005
Deferred tax assets
Accruals and allowance $10,57: $11,50:
Depreciatior 361 32¢
Tax credits 542 —
Total deferred tax asse $11,47F $11,83
Current portior 11,11« 11,50:
Non-current portior 361 32¢
Total deferred tax asse $11,47F $11,83

Management judgment is required in determining@benpany’s provision for income taxes, its defetiad
assets and any valuation allowance recorded agtsrd#ferred tax assets. In management’s judgmé&ninore
likely than not that such assets will be realizethie future as of December 31, 2005, and as sosfalnation
allowance has been recorded against the Compaefésrdd tax assets.

The effective tax rate differs from the applicablé&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
Tax at federal statutory ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State, net of federal bene 4.3 3.¢ 3.8
Stocl-based compensatic 7.3 2.3 0C
Non-deductible interest charg 27.1 0.C 0.C
Tax credits 6.49 (3.9 (1.0
Other (2.0) 2.8 0.4
Change in valuation allowan: (102.7) 0.C 0.C
Provision for (benefit from) income tax (36.6%) 35.5% 38.2%

Income tax benefits in the amount of $11.8 millaoxd $7.1 million related to the exercise of stoplians were
credited to additional paid-in capital during theays ended December 31, 2004 and 2005, respectively

Note 5—Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation and Other Legal Matters

In June 2004, a lawsuit, entiti@lberman v. NETGEARCIvil Action CV021230, was filed against the
Company in the Superior Court of California, CouafySanta Clara. The complaint purports to be ascéation on
behalf of all persons or entities in the Unitedt&avho purchased the Company’s wireless prodtiees than for
resale. Plaintiff alleges that the Company madsefagépresentations concerning the data transfedsp# its
wireless products when used in typical operatinguenstances, and is requesting injunctive reliaynpent of
restitution and reasonable attorney fees. Simalaslits have been filed against other companidsmihe industry
In November 2005, without admitting any wrongdoargviolation of law and to avoid the distractiordaaxpense ¢
continued litigation, the Company and the Plain#f€eived preliminary court approval for a proposetilement.
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Under the terms of the settlement, the Company(Wilksue each eligible class member a promotionde
which may be used to purchase a new wireless ptdchm the Company’s online store, www.buynetgeangcat a
15% discount during the redemption period; (ii)limke a disclaimer regarding wireless signal ratethe
Company'’s wireless products packaging and usertsuada and in the Comparsypress releases and advertising
reference wireless signal rates; (iii) donate $28 @orth of the Company’s products to a local,
not-for-profit charitable organization to be chosgnthe Company; and (iv) agree to pay, subjecbtat approval,
up to $700,000 in attorneyies and costs. None of the foregoing benefitsheilprovided unless and until the cc
grants final approval of the settlement agreememt. court has scheduled a hearing date of MarcB@14 for final
approval of the settlement. The Company recordetbage of $802,000 relating to this proposed sattg during
the year ended December 31, 2005.

In May 2005, the Company filed a complaint for deatory relief against the Commonwealth Scientficl
Industrial Research Organization (CSIRO), in the $@se division of the United States District Cpobiirthern
District of California. The complaint alleges thiaé claims of CSIRO’s U.S. Patent No. 5,487,069 @ralid and
not infringed by any of the Company’s products. RSIhad asserted that the Company'’s wireless netmgrk
products implementing the IEEE 802.11a and 802ulitejess LAN standards infringe its patent. Noltdate has
been set.

These claims against the Company, or filed by tbm@any, whether meritorious or not, could be time
consuming, result in costly litigation, requirergficant amounts of management time, and resuheéndiversion of
significant operational resources. Were an unfaslerautcome to occur, there exists the possihilityould have a
material adverse impact on the Company’s finarmmaition and results of operations for the perio@hich the
unfavorable outcome occurs or becomes probable.

In addition, the Company is subject to legal praoiegs, claims and litigation arising in the ordipaourse of
business, including litigation related to intelleat property and employment matters. While the ouie of these
matters is currently not determinable, the Compdwogs not expect that the ultimate costs to resblese matters
will have a material adverse effect on the Compsuegnsolidated financial position, results of ofiers or cash
flows.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EUhas enacted the Waste Electrical and Electroni¢piuent Directive, which maki
producers of electrical goods, including home amdlsbusiness networking products, financially i@sgible for
specified collection, recycling, treatment and disgd of past and future covered products. The deafir the
individual member states of the EU to enact thedfive in their respective countries was August2l®4 (such
legislation, together with the directive, the “WEEEgislation”). Producers participating in the metriare
financially responsible for implementing these mspbilities under the WEEE Legislation beginningAiugust
2005. All but a few of the 25 EU member countriagdntransposed the directive into law but impleragon in
certain countries has been delayed until 2006.18ir@gislation has been or may be enacted in gtiesdictions,
including in the United States, Canada, Mexico,n@hand Japan. The Company adopted FSP FAS
143-1, “Accounting for Electronic Equipment Wastbli@ations”, in the third quarter of fiscal 2005cahas
determined that its effect did not have a mat@mglact on its consolidated results of operatiors farancial
position for fiscal 2005. The Company is continutogevaluate the impact of the WEEE Legislation sinailar
legislation in other jurisdictions as individualwries issue their implementation guidance.

Employments Agreements

The Company has signed various employment agresmétfit key executives pursuant to which if their
employment is terminated without cause, the em@sye entitled to receive their base salary (anthtission or
bonus, as applicable) for 52 weeks (for the Chiaddrtive Officer), 39 weeks (for the Chief Finah¢xficer) and
up to 26 weeks (for other key executives), and smployees will continue to have stock options ¥estip to a
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one year period following the termination. If tlgrhination, without cause, occurs within one ydaa ochange in
control, the officer is entitled to two years aeration of any unvested portion of his or her stogtions.

Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equippmeet non-cancelable operating leases with various
expiration dates through February 2009. Rent expanthe years ended, December 31, 2003, 2004 @0t \Ras
$1.1 million, $1.3 million, and $1.5 million, resg&ely. The terms of the Company'’s principal fagilease
provides for rental payments on a graduated stake.Company recognizes rent expense on a straighbasis
over the lease period, and has accrued for rergresepincurred but not paid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2006 1,551
2007 1,14¢
2008 33¢
2009 21
Total minimum lease paymer $3,05¢

Guarantees, Indemnifications

The Company has entered into various inventoryt@dlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Under these
agreements, 50% of orders are cancelable by girige 46 to 60 days prior to the expected shiprdate and
25% of orders are cancelable by giving notice 34%alays prior to the expected shipment date. Graler non-
cancelable within 30 days prior to the expectegrslent date. At December 31, 2005, the Company had
$38.5 million in non-cancelable purchase commitraavith suppliers. The Company expects to sell @tpcts for
which it has committed purchases from suppliers.

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aagdordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offeand
directors for certain events or occurrences, stlbpecertain limits, while the officer is or wasrgieg at the
Company’s request in such capacity. The term ofrtlemnification period is for the officer’s or ditor’s lifetime.
The maximum amount of potential future indemnificatis unlimited; however, the Company has a Doeend
Officer Insurance Policy that limits its exposurelanables it to recover a portion of any futur@ants paid. As a
result of its insurance policy coverage, the Comydaglieves the fair value of these indemnificatemmeements is
minimal. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilieecorded for these agreements as of Decemb20843,

In its sales agreements, the Company typicallyemgte indemnify its distributors and resellersdny expense
or liability resulting from claimed infringement$ patents, trademarks or copyrights of third partiehe terms of
these indemnification agreements are generallygbeabany time after execution of the agreemeng. flaximum
amount of potential future indemnification is unied. To date the Company has not paid any amdarssttle
claims or defend lawsuits. As a result, the Comgaalieves the estimated fair value of these agraeesis minimal
Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recatder these agreements as of December 31, 2005.

Note 6—Stock Option Plans:

Stand-alone Stock Option

On April 22, 2002, the Company issued a stand-atamstatutory stock option to a former directooassted
with Nortel Networks, to purchase 43,750 sharehefCompany’s common stock at an exercise pri&3cEl per
share. The entire stock option was exercised in B0b. This exercise has been appropriately indul¢he
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfifitg but is not included in the Activity undené Company’s
Stock Option Plans table, below, as this option m@dssued under either of the Company’s Stockdd®lans.

2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stopkidd Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan provides for the
granting of stock options to employees and constdtaf the Company. Options granted under the Rlay be
either incentive stock options or nonqualified &toptions. Incentive stock options (“ISO”) may beugted only to
Company employees (including officers and directain® are also employees). Nonqualified stock optiNSO”)
may be granted to Company employees, directorgansultants. 7,350,000 shares of Common Stock éed b
reserved for issuance under the Plan.

Options under the Plan may be granted for periddp do ten years and at prices no less than tmated fair
value of the shares on the date of grant as daterhiy the Board of Directors, provided, howeveaf (i) the
exercise price of an ISO and NSO shall not betlems the estimated fair value of the shares onl#te of grant and
(i) the exercise price of an ISO and NSO granted 10% shareholder shall not be less than 110¢teaéstimated
fair value of the shares on the date of grant. dte,doptions granted generally vest over four years

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stdek Pthe “2003 Plan”). The 2003 Plan provides fa t
granting of stock options to employees and constdtaf the Company. Options granted under the 2088 may b
either incentive stock options or nonqualified &options. Incentive stock options (“ISO”) may beugted only to
Company employees (including officers and directaing are also employees). Nonqualified stock optiiNSO”)
may be granted to Company employees, director€ansultants. The Company has reserved 750,000ssbhre
Common Stock plus any shares which were reserveddiussued under the Company’s 2000 Stock ORian as
of the date of the approval of the 2003 Plan. Timalmer of shares which were reserved but not isanddr the
Company’s 2000 Stock Option Plan that were transfeto the Company’s 2003 Stock Plan were 615,28@;h
when combined with the stock option allocationtfte Company’s 2003 Plan give a total of 1,365,28{Fes
reserved under the Company’s 2003 Plan as of ttieeaddransfer. As of December 31, 2005, 109,6 Bfeshwere
reserved for future grants under the Company’s Zt08k Plan.

Options under the 2003 Plan may be granted foogerof up to ten years and at prices no less than t
estimated fair value of the common stock on the dagrant as determined by the closing sales foiceuch stock
as quoted on any established stock exchange dicaalbmarket system, provided, however, that@ ¢xercise
price of an ISO and NSO shall not be less tharestienated fair value of the shares on the dateanftg
respectively, and (ii) the exercise price of an 8@ NSO granted to a 10% shareholder shall ntadsethan 110%
of the estimated fair value of the shares on the digrant, respectively. To date, options gramgederally vest
over four years, the first tranche at the end @lve months and the remaining options vesting mymther the
remaining three years. In fiscal 2005, certainapigranted under the 2003 Plan immediately vestddvere
exercisable on the date of grant, and the shamsriying such options were subject to a resaleictisin which
expire at a rate of 25% per year.

Stock-based compensation

For financial reporting purposes, the Company deiteed that the estimated value of the common stock
determined in anticipation of the Company’s inifiablic offering was in excess of the exercisegqrighich was
deemed to be the fair market value as of the dxtgsant. In connection with the grants of suchiam, the
Company recorded deferred stock based compeng#tikih0 million for the year ended December 31,280d
reversal of $678,000 and $350,000 for the yeare@mkcember 31 2004 and 2005, respectively. Foydhes
ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 2005, the awiotizof non-cash deferred stock-based compensatign
$1.8 million and $1.7 million, and $1.1 million,s@ectively.
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Activity under the Company’s Stock Option Planses forth as follows:

Year Ended December 31

2003 2004 2005
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of y 6,433,09: $ 4.6¢ 6,561,69. $ 53¢ 4,147,08 $ 7.0C
Options grante: 654,73! 12.1¢ 614,60. 13.6C 1,147,051 17.2%
Options exercise (141,89 5.67 (2,796,42) 4.64 (1,378,37) 5.7
Options cancelle (384,23 4.9 (232,77) 7.41 (242,079 9.41
Outstanding at end of ye 6,561,69 5.3¢  4,147,08 7.0C 3,673,68 10.4¢
Options exercisable at end of y« 4,654,02. 4.8¢ 2,644,06. 5.2¢ 2,959,25! 9.82

Additional information regarding stock options datsding under the Company’s Stock Option Plans as o
December 31, 2005 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Remaining

Number Contractual Life ~ Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding (in Years) Exercise Price  Outstanding Exercise Price
$1.29-$2.99 175,58: 5€ $ 1.2¢ 174,99 $ 1.2¢
$3.00- $5.99 1,240,18. 44 % 451 1,206,75 $ 4.5]
$6.00- $ 8.99 316,84( 6.C $ 7.57 231,07¢ $ 7.6¢
$9.00- $11.99 262,11¢ 79 % 10.2: 115,96t $ 10.4¢
$12.00- $14.99 355,38 8C % 13.7¢ 201,01 $ 13.52
$15.00- $17.99 831,02 8¢ % 15.72 636,89t $ 15.5¢
$18.00- $20.99 426,25( 95 $ 19.4¢ 326,25( $ 19.5¢
$21.00- $21.23 66,30( 9.8 $ 21.2¢ 66,30( $ 21.2¢
$1.29- $21.23 3,673,68 6.9 $ 10.4¢ 2,959,25! $ 9.82

The fair value of each option grant under the CamgfsaStock Option Plans is estimated on the datgranft
using the fair value method and the following weééghaverage assumptions:

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2004 2005

Expected life (in years 4 4 4
Risk-free interest rat 2.68% 2.81% 3.8:%
Expected volatility 71% 52% 5%
Dividend yield — — —

The weighted average fair value of options grani@ihg 2003, 2004 and 2005 was $8.37, $5.47 ar@D$8.
respectively.

Note 7—Employee Stock Purchase Plan:

In April 2003, the Company adopted the EmployeelSturchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”) under which
500,000 shares have been reserved for issuancéurbbase Plan permits purchases of common stagsayiroll
deductions. The maximum payroll deduction is 10%hefemployee’s cash compensation. The first PeecRdan

57




Table of Contents

NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

cycle began February 1, 2004. The value of theeshaurchased by any single employee in any calegm@armay
not exceed $25,000. The price of each share puedhaas 85% of the lower of:

* The fair market value per share of common stoctherfirst trading day of each offering period (whic
typically lasts 6 months); ¢

* The fair market value per share of common stoctkherfirst trading day on or subsequent to thedagtof the
offering period, if it falls on a weekend or Goverant holiday

Through December 31, 2005, 126,076 shares hadpeehased under the Purchase Plan and 373,924rremai
available for future grants.

The Company does not recognize compensation dastdeo employee purchase rights under the Puechas
Plan in accordance with APB 25. The pro forma camspéon cost estimated for the fair value of theleyees’
purchase rights of approximately $400,000 for 2808 $268,000 for 2004 has been included in thdgyra
information included in Note 1.

The fair value of each purchase right under the @omy’'s Purchase Plan is estimated on the dateaot gsing
the fair value method and the following weighte@érage assumptions:

Year Ended

December 31,

2004 2005

Expected life (in years 0.t 0.t
Risk-free interest rat 1.3% 2.9%%
Expected volatility 52% 55%

Dividend yield — —

The weighted average fair value of purchase righdasted during 2004 and 2005 was $4.11 and $5.21,
respectively.

Note 8—Segment Information, Operations by Geographic Areand Customer Concentration:

Operating segments are components of an entegly@g which separate financial information is aafalié and
is regularly evaluated by management, namely tief operating decision maker of an organizatiorgrider to
make operating and resource allocation decisionghB definition, the Company operates in one hes$ segment,
which comprises the development, marketing andafatetworking products for the small business hoohe
markets. NETGEAR'’s primary headquarters and a agmit portion of its operations are located in thated
States. The Company also conducts sales, marketistpmer service activities and certain distrilnutenter
activities through several small sales offices imdpe, Middle-East and Africa (EMEA) and Asia adhvas
outsourced distribution centers.

For reporting purposes revenue is attributed th g@ography based on the geographic location of the
customer. Net revenue by geography comprises geossiue less such items as marketing incentivektpai
customers, sales returns and price protection,iwigiduce gross revenue. In 2005, the Company ckfiae
methodology for these items to allocate them opegiic identification basis to the geography taahtthey relate.
Previously such amounts were allocated based dng=ugraphy’s gross revenue as a percentage btots
revenue. Geographic revenue information for 20082004 has been revised to be consistent and caliparith
the 2005 presentation resulting in decreases wiqursly reported amounts in the United States & $illion and
$18.8 million for 2003 and 2004, respectively, amtteases in the United Kingdom of $3.5 million &&i4 million,
Germany of $2.5 million and $3.7 million, EMEA (duding UK and Germany) of $2.4 million and $5.0 lioih,
and Asia Pacific and rest of the world of $1.9 milland $3.7 million, for 2003 and 2004, respedyive
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Geographic information
Net revenue by geographic location is as followsliousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2004 2005
United State: $162,56: $186,83¢ $199,20¢
United Kingdom 38,987 60,58¢ 76,45¢
Germany 36,90z 51,30¢ 52,86¢
EMEA (excluding UK and German 31,95¢ 47,72t 70,62¢
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 28,89: 36,68¢ 50,45

$299,30: $383,13¢  $449,61(

Long-lived assets, comprising fixed assets, arerted based on the location of the asset. Longtassets by
geographic location are as follows (in thousands):

December 31

2004 2005
United State: $3,21t  $4,37¢
EMEA 38 42
Asia Pacific and rest of the wor 32¢€ 282

Customer Concentration (as a percentage of nehueye

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2004 2005

Ingram Micro, Inc. 31% 27% 25%
Tech Data Corporatio 15% 18% 17%

Note 9—Employee Benefit Plan:

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)Hlan to which employees may contribute up to
100% of salary subject to the legal maximum. Then@any contributes an amount equal to 50% of thel@yep
contributions up to a maximum of $1,500 per calerydar per employee. The Company expensed $233,000,
$279,000 and $361,000 related to the NETGEAR 40RI& in the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002@05
respectively.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA
(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quarteraficial information for each of the Company’s kight
quarters. This information has been derived froemm@ompany’s unaudited financial statements andhban
prepared on the same basis as the audited Cortsdlimnancial Statements appearing elsewheresn thi
Form 10-K. In the opinion of management, all neagsadjustments, consisting only of normal recygyrin
adjustments, have been included to state fairlygtieterly results.

April 3, 2005 July 3, 200¢ October 2, 200¢ December 31, 200

Net revenu $ 108,95 $107,57¢ $ 111,310  $ 121,76"
Gross profit $ 3588 $ 38601 $ 39,09¢ % 38,11¢
Provision for income taxe $ 5068 $ 494 3 549 $ 5,36:
Net income $ 786 $ 8301 $ 859 $ 8,86¢
Net income per sha— basic $ 028 $ 026 $ 0.2¢ % 0.27
Net income per sha— diluted $ 024 $ 022 § 028 % 0.2¢

March 28, 2004 June 27, 200 October 3, 200¢ December 31, 200

Net revenue $ 88,42t $ 8837: $ 101,23t % 105,10t
Gross profit $ 27,48: $ 2835 $ 32,49. % 34,48¢
Provision for income taxe $ 2,75¢  $ 3,066 $ 3,71¢ % 3,37¢
Net income $ 4,15C $ 487t % 587¢ % 8,56¢
Net income per sha— basic $ 014 $ 0.1€ $ 0.1¢ % 0.27
Net income per sha— diluted $ 0.1z $ 0.1t % 0.1¢ % 0.2¢
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controls and proceduréSur management evaluated, with the participatifoour
chief executive officer and our chief financialioffr, the effectiveness of our disclosure contanld procedures as
of the end of the period covered by this reporseégbon this evaluation, our chief executive offigad our chief
financial officer have concluded that our discl@saontrols and procedures are effective to ensatartiformation
we are required to disclose in reports that wedilsubmit under the Securities Exchange Act 04193 amended,
is recorded, processed, summarized and reportéihwvifite time periods specified in Securities andhzxge
Commission rules and forms.

Design and evaluation of internal control over firtéal reporting. Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, we have included a report of aggment’s assessment of the design and effectiverfiesir
internal controls as part of this Annual Reportramm 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 30520
Management’s report is included with our ConsobdaEinancial Statements under Part Il, Iltem 8 isf th

Changes in internal control over financial repodin There was no change in our internal control dvemcia
reporting that occurred during the period coverngdhis report that has materially affected, ordasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaaareporting. We are aware that any system ofrotsithowever
well designed and operated, can only provide restslenand not absolute, assurance that the obgsatifithe
system are met, and that maintenance of disclasumgols and procedures is an ongoing processrthgtchange
over time.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is incorpted herein by reference from our Proxy Statemadated to
our 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which wend to file no later than 120 days after the efithe fiscal
year covered by this repo

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registra

Directors

The information required by this Item regarding directors is incorporated by reference to therimiztion
contained in the section captioned “Election ofedtors” in our Proxy Statement.
Executive Officers

The information required by this Item regarding executive officers is incorporated by referencth®
information contained in the section captioned “€ixere Officers of the Registranificluded under Part I, Item 1
this report.

Audit Committee

The information required by this Item regarding dudit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Exf®
is incorporated by reference to the informationtaored in our Proxy Statement.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

The information required by this Item regarding t®et16(a) beneficial ownership reporting complians
incorporated by reference to the information cargdiin the section captioned “Section 16(a) Ber@fldwnership
Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies teluef executive officer and senior financial offis, as
required by the SEC. The current version of oureCafdEthics can be found on our Internet site at
http://www.netgear.com. Additional information réiqd by this Item regarding our Code of Ethicsnisarporated
by reference to the information contained in thetisa captioned “Code of Ethics” in our Proxy Stagnt.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementenrittm 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendmentto, o
waiver from, a provision of this code of ethicsgmsting such information on our website at the asislispecified
above.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this Item is incorp@@by reference to the information contained ingbetion
captioned “Executive Compensation” in our Proxyt&tzent.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atnbnagement and Related Stockholder Matt

The information required by this Item is incorp@by reference to the information contained ingbetion
captioned “Security Ownership of Certain Benefi€alners and Management” in our Proxy Statement. The
information required by this Item regarding Equitympensation Plan information is included in Phiitém 5 of
this report.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is incorp@dby reference to the information contained insbetion
captioned “Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statent.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servici

The information required by this Item related taliatees and services is incorporated by referémd¢he
information appearing in our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule and Repoais Form 8-K

(&) The following documents are filed as part of tldpart:

(1) Financial Statements.

_Page

Managemer's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repaor 35
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm 36
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &00200¢ 38
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 39
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfi(iitg for the three years ended December 31, 22084

and 200t 40
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the tyeaes ended December 31, 2003, 2004 and 41
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 42
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudite 60

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2003, 2004 and 2005 is filed as part of this Fo@¥Kland should be read in conjunction with the Qiidsited
Financial Statements of NETGEAR, Inc.

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance at Balance at
Beginning of Year  Additions Deductions End of Year

Allowance for doubtful account

Year ended December 31, 2C 873 513 (64) 1,322

Year ended December 31, 2C 1,322 371 (184 1,50¢

Year ended December 31, 2C 1,50¢ (4) (210 1,29t
Deferred tax asset valuation allowan

Year ended December 31, 2C 9,17: 59¢ (9,772) —

Year ended December 31, 2C — — — _
Year ended December 31, 2C — — — _
Allowance for sales returns and product warra

Year ended December 31, 2C 12,30« 27,45¢ (22,959 16,80«

Year ended December 31, 2C 16,80« 30,86: (30,49¢) 17,17:

Year ended December 31, 2C 17,17: 37,53 (36,87¢) 17,83(
Allowance for price protectior

Year ended December 31, 2C 3,052 11,60: (12,049 2,607

Year ended December 31, 2C 2,601 14,93¢ (22,899 4,64¢

Year ended December 31, 2C 4,64¢ 11,82¢ (15,027 1,45¢€

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompanying IndeExibits are filed or incorporated by reference
as part of this report.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K
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Report on Form 8-K furnished on October 26, 200deuritem 2.02 (Results of Operations and Financial
Condition), regarding our financial results for fiszal quarter ended October 2, 2005.

Report on Form 8-K furnished on November 22, 2008eu Item 1.01 (Entrance into Material Definitive
Agreement), regarding the entrance into an employagreement with Christine Gorjanc, our Vice Riest,
Finance.

Report on Form 8-K furnished on November 25, 2008eu Item 1.01 (Entrance into Material Definitive
Agreement), regarding our proposed settlementetthass action lawsuit entitled Zilberman v. NETGEAivil
Action CV021230.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regjgthas
duly caused this Annual Report to be signed ohétsalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrizethe City
of Santa Clara, State of California, on the 15th aflaMarch 2006.

NETGEAR, INC.
Registrant

/sl PaTrICK C.S. lO

Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes
and appoints Patrick C.S. Lo and Jonathan Matimereach of them, his attorneys-in-fact, each withgower of
substitution, for him in any and all capacitiessign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi+K and to file
the same, with exhibits thereto and other documiantennection therewith, with the Securities anxtditange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming alltteach of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitutesubstitutes,
may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpithe
following persons on behalf of the Registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl PaTrRICK C.S. lo Chairman of the Board and March 15, 200
Patrick C.S. Lo Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer
/sl JONATHAN R. MATHER Executive Vice President and March 15, 200
Jonathan R. Mather Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ RALPH E. FAISON Director March 15, 200
Ralph E. Faisol

/sl A. TIMOTHY GODWIN Director March 15, 200

A. Timothy Godwin

/sl JEF GRAHAM Director March 15, 200
Jef Grahan
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Signature

/s/ Linwoop A. LAcY, <R.

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr

/s/ GERALD A. PocH

Gerald A. Poct

/sl GREGORYJ. FossMANN

Gregory J. Rossmar
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Director

Director

Director

Date

March 15, 200

March 15, 200

March 15, 200
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Exhibit
Number
3.3
35
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
104
10.5
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

10.13.1
10.14*

10.15*
10.24*
10.25*
10.26*
1031
10.32
211
231
311
312
321

32.2

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe registrant(1

Bylaws of the registrant(l

Form of registrars common stock certificate(

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors anfticers(1)

2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreementgtimeter(1’

2003 Stock Plan and forms of agreements thereubx

2003 Employee Stock Purchase Plai

Employment Agreement, dated December 3, 1999, leetilee registrant and Patrick C.S. Lc
Employment Agreement, dated August 10, 2001, betwee registrant and Jonathan R. Mathe
Employment Agreement, dated December 9, 1999, leetiee registrant and Mark G. Merrill(
Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2002, biviee registrant and Michael F. Falcor
Employment Agreement, dated January 6, 2003, bettreeregistrant and Charles T. Olsor
Employment Agreement, dated October 18, 2004, leiwiee registrant and Albert Y. Liu(
Employment Agreement, dated November 16, 2005, detvthe registrant and Christine Gorjant
Standard Office Lease, dated December 3, 2001 dagtthe registrant and Dell Associates II-A, and
First Amendment to Standard Office Lease, datedcMad, 2002(1

Second Amendment to Lease, dated June 30, 2004edethe registrant and Dell Associate-A(4)
Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1997, betwtbenregistrant and Tech Data Product Manager
Inc.(1)

Distributor Agreement, dated March 1, 1996, betwtbenregistrant and Ingram Micro Inc., as amended
by Amendment dated October 1, 1996 and AmendmengNated July 15, 1998(

Warehousing Agreement, dated July 5, 2001, betwlemnegistrant and APL, Logistics Americas, Ltd.
(1)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated April 2002, between the registrant and Furness Logistics
BV(1)

Distribution Operation Agreement, dated Decemb&0D/, between the registrant and Kerry Logistics
(Hong Kong) Limited(1]

Severance Agreement and Release, effective as\admiloer 12, 2004, between the registrant and
Christopher Marshall(=

Settlement Agreement and Release for ZilbermanBA GEAR, Civil Action CV021230, effective as of
November 22, 2005(¢

List of subsidiarie:

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, IndeperiRegistered Public Accounting Fir

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and
15c¢-15(e),as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuawnt $ecurities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and
15c¢-15(e),as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 200z

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 2002

* Confidential treatment has been granted as toingytations of this Exhibit
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(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit bearirgghme number filed with the Registrant’s Regiktnat
Statement on Form S-1 (Registration Statement 823+19), which the Securities and Exchange Comnmissio
declared effective on July 30, 20(

(2) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of thgiReant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&wgamission

(3) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of thgiR&ant’'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Noweer 22,
2005 with the Securities and Exchange Commis:

(4) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of thgiReant’'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&@wmamission

(5) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of thgReant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 17, 2004 with the Securities and Exch&wgamission

(6) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 of thgReant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Nowger 25,
2005 with the Securities and Exchange Commis:
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Exhibit 21.1

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Entity Name Jurisdiction
Netgear International, In Delaware

Netgear Holdings, Ltc Ireland






Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-B38718) of NETGEAR, Inc. of our
report dated March 13, 2006 relating to the finahsiatements, financial statement schedule, mamaigs assessment of the effectivenes
internal control over financial reporting and ttigeetiveness of internal control over financial ogfing, of NETGEAR, Inc., which appears in
NETGEAR, Inc’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeddmber 31, 2005.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 13, 2006







Exhibit 31.1

CEO CERTIFICATION
I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&¥K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, anditie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgatares, or caused such disclosure controls arguoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over ficiahreporting, or caused such internal controlrdireancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Regisls disclosure controls and procedures and presémtais report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change i Registrant’s internal control over financial repay that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrariurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrrg that has materially affected, or is reason
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s int@t control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officerdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thatazammittee of the Registrant’s board of directors

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenetaknesses in the design or operation of intexoiatrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who haignédisant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ Patrick C.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc







Exhibit 31.2

CFO CERTIFICATION
I, Jonathan R. Mather, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&¥K of NETGEAR, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, anditie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgimlisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls andgatares, or caused such disclosure controls amguoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over ficiahreporting, or caused such internal controlrdirencial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Regisls disclosure controls and procedures and presémtads report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change i Registrant’s internal control over financial repay that occurred during the Registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrariurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annyabrrg that has materially affected, or is reason
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s int@t control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officerdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiatuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thatazammittee of the Registrant’s board of directors

(a) All significant deficiencies and matenetaknesses in the design or operation of intexoiatrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatolves management or other employees who haignédisant role in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ Jonathan R. Mathe
Jonathan R. Mathel
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer NETGEAR, Inc







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEANC. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2005, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), |, Patrick C. S. Lo,aman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®®0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002
(“Section 906"), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirermeent section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Ad984 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finaraaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /sl Patrick C.S. Lo
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished o $lecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafhuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filingled Company under the Securities Act of 1933 oSéaurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of this F&¥K), irrespective of any general incorporati@nfjuage contained in such filing.






Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEANC. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2005, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Jonathan R. Matleecutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursusmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuadé¢ttion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 (“Section 906"), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaaritents of section 13(a) of the Securities Exchawgef 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

(2) The information contained in the Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the feiaincondition and results of operations of
the Company.

Date: March 16, 2006 By: /s/ Jonathan R. Mathe
Jonathan R. Mathel
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial officer
NETGEAR, Inc

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to the Company
will be retained by the Company and furnished s $ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spaffiuequest.

This certification accompanies the Form 10-K toebhit relates, is not deemed filed with the Semgiand Exchange Commission and is not
to be incorporated by reference into any filingled Company under the Securities Act of 1933 oSéaurities Exchange Act of 1934
(whether made before or after the date of this F&f-K), irrespective of any general incorporation larmge contained in such filin



